

The Effects of COVID-19 on Unemployment: A Comparative Case Study: the Netherlands and Bulgaria

Kolev, Kaloian

Citation

Kolev, K. (2021). The Effects of COVID-19 on Unemployment: A Comparative Case Study: the Netherlands and Bulgaria.

Version:	Not Applicable (or Unknown)
License:	<u>License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in</u> <u>the Leiden University Student Repository</u>
Downloaded from:	<u>https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3239517</u>

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



MASTER THESIS

The Effects of COVID-19 on Unemployment

A Comparative Case Study: the Netherlands and Bulgaria

Author:

Kaloian Kolev

Supervisor:

Dr. A. Maiello

Second reader: Dr. D.D. Toshkov

Master program:

MSc Public Administration: International and European Governance

2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of	abbreviations	3
List of	figures	4
List of	tables	6
I. INTF	RODUCTION	7
1.1.	Relevance and context of the topic	7
1.2.	Aim and scope of the research	9
II. REV	VIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
2.1.	Contextualization of labour policies	12
2.1.1	. Unemployment – definition and concepts	12
2.1.2	. Types of unemployment	13
a. Ge	eneral Unemployment	13
b. Fu	rlough Employees	15
2.1.3	. Unemployment, crisis and COVID-19	15
III. RE	SEARCH DESIGN	23
3.1.	Methodology	23
3.2.	Process tracing	23
3.3.	Data selection and sources	
3.4.	Reliability and limitations	
IV. AN	ALYSIS: COMPARATIVE CASE STUDY	34
4.1.	Unemployment dynamics in the Netherlands and Bulgaria	
4.2.	Government policy response in the Netherlands and Bulgaria	52
4.3.	Institutional factors and the role of the EU	64
V. COI	NCLUSION	73
REFER	RENCES	77

List of abbreviations

- BGN Bulgarian lev
- BLS Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor
- CBS Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, Statistics Netherlands
- CFP Consolidated Fiscal Programme
- EC European Commission
- ECDC European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
- EU European Union
- ECB European Central Bank
- GFC Great Financial Crisis of 2008-2009
- IMF -- International Monetary Fund
- ILO International Labour Organization
- JTF Just Transition Fund
- LFS Labour Force Survey
- MF Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria
- NEA National Employment Agency
- NGEU Next Generation EU
- NSI National Statistical Institute of Bulgaria
- NSSI National Social Security Institute of Bulgaria
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction test
- SMEs Small and medium-sized enterprises
- STW Short-time work
- SURE Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency

List of figures

Figure 1. Dependent variable, independent and intervening variables - decomposition
and linkages
Figure 2. COVID-19 infections, restrictions and measures – timeline for Bulgaria (March
2020 – May 2021)
Figure 3. COVID-19 infections, restrictions and measures – timeline for the Netherlands
(March 2020 – May 2021)
Figure 4. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area
for the period from January 2005 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%)
Figure 5. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area
for the period from January 2013 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%)
Figure 6. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area
for the period from January 2019 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%) and EC forecast for
2021 and 2022
Figure 7. Number of COVID-19 infections in the Netherlands and part of the
implemented measures in the summer and in the autumn of 2020
Figure 8. Employment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for
the period from January 2019 to March 2021 (annual data) (%)
Figure 9. Part-time employment in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1
2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%)
Figure 10. Temporary contracts in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1
2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%)
Figure 11. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU
and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - less than
primary, primary and lower secondary education (levels 0-2)
Figure 12. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU
and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - upper
secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education (levels 3 and 4)
Figure 13. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU
and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - tertiary
education (levels 5-8)

Figure 14. Dynamics of employed persons working from home as a percentage of the
total employment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from
2008 to 2020 (annual data) (%)
Figure 15. Employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total
employment in the EU Member States in 2019 (%)
Figure 16. Employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total
employment in the EU Member States in 2020 (%)
Figure 17. Recent job starters in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1
2018 to Q4 2020 (thousands)
Figure 18. Youth unemployment in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from
January 2005 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%) 50
Figure 19. Effects from the labour market measures – actual and estimated number of
unemployed persons in Bulgaria (thousands) 57
Figure 20. Top 10 COVID-19-related support schemes by targeted expenditures 60
Figure 21. Debt-to-GDP ratio in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area (annual
data) (%)

List of tables

Table 1. Source of data 2	8
Table 2. Overview of fiscal policy response mix to COVID-19 in Bulgaria	5
Table 3. Multiannual Financial Framework 2021-2027 total allocations	7
Table 4. Next Generation EU breakdown 6	8
Table 5. Just Transition Fund – allocations per Member State (EUR million)	8
Table 6. Proposed and disbursed loan amounts from the temporary Support to mitigate	te
Unemployment Risks in an Emergency (SURE) per Member State (in alphabetical	
order)	0

I. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Relevance and context of the topic

International emergencies like economic depression, war, environmental catastrophes and others often shift the socio-political direction of welfare states. These events are sometimes predicted or expected and governments have certain a rule book, which allows them to counteract and relieve the severity of the situation. These measures aim to protect individuals, shielding their income, health and security from external dangers. Some emergencies, however, happen suddenly and present circumstances which cannot be predicted. An example for this perfect storm is the ongoing pandemic of COVID-19, which first started in China in late 2019, progressively expanding to the rest of the world.

Although not the first epidemic, COVID-19 is unique due to the circumstances surrounding it. Namely, the increased globalization, which helped its rapid transmission across the globe. Due to this, most developed countries and emerging markets were under the same exposure to the negative effects of the virus, affecting their healthcare system, economy and unemployment policies. In this context, this master thesis would argue that COVID-19 dramatically shifted both short and long-term unemployment strategy, as the severity of the danger pushed states to treat it as their highest priority. The actions that states had taken, however, are greatly dependent on the capacity of each one of them to counteract unemployment. The IMF (2020) even entitled the coronavirus crisis "*The Great Lockdown*".

The motivation behind this research is based on the real-life implications of this global emergency. As of the 31st of May 2021, there are above 170 million reported cases of COVID-19, 3.54 million reported COVID-19 related deaths worldwide and above 1.893 billion administered vaccine doses, according to Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center (2021) data. Multiple lockdowns have been introduced across Europe since March 2020 when the crisis started to unfold, closing down businesses temporarily. As a result, Eurostat (2021a) reports a sharp spike of unemployment rate in both adult and youth population. As of the end of March 2021, the number of unemployed men and women is 15.520 million (7.3%), 2.019 million higher than the reported unemployment

in March 2020 (6.4%). Youth unemployment rate is reported to be 17.1%, or 2.951 million, which marks an increase of 319 thousand people compared to March 2020 (14.9%).

Another negative impact of COVID-19 is the economic recession in which Europe entered in March 2020 and with slight recovery by the fourth quarter of 2020, but with a double-dip recession in the beginning of 2021 as more social-distancing measures were introduced at the end of 2020 and at the start of 2021 (Paul & Webber, 2021 Bloomberg). Furthermore, this recession put industries who have adopted riskier business models prior to the crisis at jeopardy, which in turn may trickle down to the rest of the economy (Tooze, 2020).

When looking at the global situation at this angle, a clear trend can be easily spotted. Namely, that at the starting point of the crisis, European states have slowly recovered from the 2008 economic crisis. Due to this, the risk appetite of states and enterprises was higher and the pace of development was steady. However, COVID-19 is an example for a low-probability and high-stakes event, which challenged this growth path by unveiling major weak-points.

Now, the challenge to counteract this crisis fast and preserve as many lives and jobs as possible, requires bold institutional and government decisions. Blofield, Hoffmann and Llanos (2020) emphasize on the critical importance of firm governance and decision-making for introducing large-scale lockdowns and committing to support the public. By the second half of 2021, the EU's unprecedented €1.8 trillion recovery fund Next Generation EU (NGEU) and multi-year budget (EC, 2021a) should be supporting the economic growth on the continent through public investments which will be essential for businesses to rebuild their financial state, weakened by the crisis.

The possibility to conduct research on a topic, which is undoubtedly relevant, given the current social, health and economic challenges and circumstances portrayed by the COVID-19 pandemic, stand behind the author's motivation to choose the scope of the thesis' topic. Although the situation constantly evolves, which could be pointed out as one of the limitations of the research, the challenge to analyse the changing environment in almost real time also complements the author's motivation.

In literature, the amount of research about the effects of COVID-19 on jobs and reviews of economic policies by countries is continuously growing. This represents an additional evidence for the relevance of the topic. The comparative case study based on process tracing about two European countries – the Netherlands and Bulgaria, will complement the existing research in the field of COVID-19 responses and labour market developments in a pandemic.

1.2. Aim and scope of the research

The **aim** of the master thesis is to present a comprehensive comparative case study, based on process tracing as main research method, focusing on the effects of COVID-19 on the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and Bulgaria, with an accent on the applied economic policies aimed at mitigating the severe effects of the pandemic on the labour market.

The purpose is decomposed to the following main objectives of the research:

1. Clarification of the nature of the COVID-19 pandemic on the labour market and of the main characteristics of unemployment;

2. Analysis of the strategy, approaches and tools of the Netherlands and Bulgaria to mitigate the severe effects of COVID-19 on their labour markets;

3. Use of process tracing for conducting the comparative case study regarding the COVID-19 effects on the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria and on the government job retention schemes.

Regarding the **scope of the research**, the applied measures of two European countries – the Netherlands and Bulgaria – will be analysed, by doing a deep dive into their unemployment policies. These two countries present a variety of background differences, including budget capacity, tax system, healthcare structure, and relationship with the EU: the Netherlands being on the EU contributor's side and Bulgaria being EU funds reliant; the Netherlands being a member of the euro area and Bulgaria, which joined the Exchange Rate Mechanism II in 2019 and aiming to join the euro area possibly in 2024.

The unemployment/furlough policy of each country will be thoroughly analysed, looking at the changes between pre and post COVID-19. The scope is limited to the time of writing, which is May 2021. The economic background of each state will be explored, the mechanisms behind how funds are obtained and distributed will be described. Primary data will include reports by the IMF, EU published documentation, and government issued documentation and analysis of the initiatives by the EU, focused on orchestrating actions and backing up EU states during the pandemic.

In this regard, the following **hypothesis** is formulated: the COVID-19 pandemic affected the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and Bulgaria and the economic policies applied in those two countries aiming to mitigate the severe effects of the pandemic ultimately managed to preserve jobs.

The research in the thesis would seek answers of three research questions:

1. Which kind of differences have emerged in the policy-making process to contrast COVID-19-related unemployment in different EU memberships, namely Eurozone member (the Netherlands) and Non-Eurozone member (Bulgaria)?

2. What kind of mechanisms the governments of the Netherlands and Bulgaria put in place to address unemployment caused by the COVID-19 crisis?

3. What is the role of the EU in supporting these states?

The master thesis continues as follows:

Chapter 2 presents a review of the literature. It consists of contextualization of various labour market policies and a breakdown of unemployment definitions. Recent studies about the effects of COVID-19 on the labour market and on the unemployment level in particular are also included.

Chapter 3 covers methodological aspects and main concepts of the thesis. It represents the applied methods, research design, the approach of process tracing, and introduces the gathered data and its sources.

Chapter 4 presents the comparative case study and analysis, for which the data collection from the previous chapter is used, complemented by empirical data and analysis of the findings.

Chapter 5 concludes the thesis by summarizing the findings. A brief discussion about the potential future path of the influence of COVID-19 on the labour market is presented. Also, limitations of the study and implications for future research are addressed in the last chapter.

The list of references is also included at the very end of the master thesis.

II. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The review of the literature is performed on the basis of contextualization of various labour market policies, breaking down unemployment definitions and analysing concrete labour market developments in selected areas and countries. Recent studies about the effects of COVID-19 on the labour market and on the unemployment level in particular are included. Labour market patterns in crisis mode are also discussed.

According to the Journal of Economic Literature (JEL) (American Economic Association, n.d) the classification system of the American Economic Association this study is placed in the field of Public Economics (H) and Labor and Demographic Economics (J). More specifically, the following codes could be outlined as relevant to the research: "H5 – National Government Expenditures and Related Policies; H50 – General"; "J08 – Labor Economics Policies"; "J21 – Labor Force and Employment, Size, and Structure".

2.1. Contextualization of labour policies

2.1.1. Unemployment – definition and concepts

The rate of unemployment as a macroeconomic indicator, with both economic and social dimensions, plays an important role. If the unemployment is increasing, individuals might lose income, the governments might experience a rising pressure as regards to public spending on social benefits and a reduction in tax revenue. From an economic standpoint, unemployment may be seen as *"unused labour capacity"* (Eurostat, 2021c).

For the purposes of this thesis, it is essential that the boundaries of the concept of unemployment is mapped out and the various elements of it are broken down. There are two main sections of unemployment that will be explored in this work, namely: general unemployment and furloughed employees. This would allow to measure two critical aspects of the unemployment crisis management – job and income retention, as well as

the measures oriented to those who are unable to benefit from it or such that lost their job or are unable to find one.

In economic literature, there is a broader consensus that the unemployment rate, as a macroeconomic indicator, responses to changes in the underlying economic conditions with a certain lag. In a time of crisis, or a slowdown of economic growth occurs, the unemployment starts to rise after certain period, months or quarters. When the economy begins to recover and the growth is gradually increasing, employers remain cautious regarding new hirings. It might take several months or quarters for the unemployment rate to start decreasing again.

2.1.2. Types of unemployment

a. General Unemployment

At this point, the master thesis will present the most common, well known and widely used definitions of unemployment, by which the subsequent analysis will be performed.

The definition of unemployment rate by the International Labour Organization is: *"unemployed people without a job who have been actively seeking work in the last four weeks and are available to start work within the next two weeks"* (ILO, 2021).

According to the definition of the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015), the term *"general unemployment"* incudes individuals who are jobless, actively seeking employment and available to work.

Based on the outlined definition of ILO, Eurostat defines unemployed as: "persons aged 15 to 74 who are without work, are available to start work within the next two weeks and have actively sought employment at some time during the previous four weeks" (Eurostat, 2021c). For each EU Member State, as well as averages for the EU and the euro area, Eurostat publishes harmonised unemployment rates by a harmonised data source, namely, the European Union Labour Force Survey (LFS). According to the methodology of Eurostat, the unemployment rate is: "the number of people unemployed

as a percentage of the labour force". On the other hand, "the labour force is the total number of people employed plus the unemployed" (Eurostat, 2021c).

Due to the wide use of the unemployment rate as a main indicator for the labour market and its relatively timely availability, it allows better international comparability. In general, indicators such as new job openings, recent job vacancies and level of employment, besides the unemployment rate, could also provide useful information about the developments in the labour market in particular countries or economic sectors.

Since labour market statistics and unemployment data is used in Chapter IV, the definition and the measurement of the unemployment level in Bulgaria have to be clarified as well.

As already mentioned, the unemployment could be measured by more than one way. In Bulgaria, there are two main methods, used to determine the unemployment level, which differs in the applied methodology. The National Statistical Institute (NSI) and the National Employment Agency (NEA) of Bulgaria are the two institutions responsible for collecting and disseminating the labour market data.

The NSI uses statistical surveillance and interviews of representative sample of the Bulgarian population to measure the levels of employment and unemployment in the economy on a monthly, quarterly, semi-annual and annual periods. The NSI is responsible for sending the results from the surveys to Eurostat for preparation of the harmonized LFS.

The NEA measures the unemployment by the number of registered unemployed people in the labour offices. One of the disadvantages of the measure is that it may not always be correct. People who left or lost their jobs are being registered as unemployed and they receive unemployment benefits. If the unemployed have not started new job after the legal deadline for receiving the unemployment benefits expired, they no longer count as unemployed and they drop out of the statistics.

Statistics Netherlands (CBS) measures the unemployment rate as a share of the labour force (employed plus unemployed people), who live in the Netherlands and are between 15 and 74 years old (Statistics Netherlands, 2021a).

The described definitions and methods for measurement of unemployment provide an evidence for the possibility of equal data use, thus allowing clear comparability.

b. Furlough Employees

The second category, which the thesis will touch upon, are employees that were unable to perform any work because of local restrictions, imposed due to COVID-19. These employees do not fall under the bracket of unemployment. However, they are under risk of a) reduced income and b) losing their jobs.

For example, the BLS publishes data for people whose availability to work is negatively affected by their employer losing or closing business due to COVID-19. In the form of interviews, since the beginning of May 2020, the BLS (2021a) also gathers data for the number of persons not able to search for work because of the pandemic, thus gauging the pandemic's impact on the US labour market.

This group is greatly dependent on government support as well as the introduction of additional restrictions and shutdowns. What is specific about the dynamics of job-retention policies is the narrative direction as the horizon of the expected resolution of the pandemic extends. This ultimately affects the scope of these policies as well as the available budget to support employers to keep their employees. This will be thoroughly explored in Chapter IV.

2.1.3. Unemployment, crisis and COVID-19

This part of the thesis continues with a review of the literature in terms of the developments of unemployment in crisis times and regarding the economic and socio-politics impact of COVID-19. In the field of scientific literature, the vast majority of COVID-19 related papers are focused in terms of clinic trials, vaccine effectiveness and impact on the healthcare sector in general, thus contributing to the knowledge for preserving people's health and saving human lives. In recent months, the amount of research on the effects of COVID-19 on economy and jobs is continuously growing.

Papers for comparing or reviewing economic policies implemented by different countries, or by looking at the prism of the welfare state, in relation of COVID-19 counteraction are increasing at a somewhat slower pace.

Buendía et al. (2020) perform a comparative study on the COVID-19 crisis and its impact on the European economy by countries. The main focus of this study are the trends on social benefits in family, housing, social assistance and unemployment, divided by different income brackets. The authors highlight the trend of decreasing benefits pre and post the 2008 global financial crisis for most of the EU countries. One critical observation is that the crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic made a large group of citizens dependent of government support via the disturbed benefits, stemming from fiscal spending, by applying a proactive approach to remedy high unemployment.

The fact that COVID-19 completely changed the general path of welfare policies is made evident by the increasing number of research papers. The trend, observed by Buendía et al. (2020), is that social benefits historically are decreasing in size per capita, thus in total volumes. However, COVID-19 stands out as an emergency treated with the highest level of attention, pushing states into overdrive. This in turn, increased governments' spending as the effects from the imposed lockdowns required a remedial support for a very large portion of the population of each country.

Ceylan et al. (2020) break down the economic effects of COVID-19 in different sectors. According to the authors, *"recent research on COVID-19 confirmed previous findings that precautionary actions might be much less costly than recovery expenses"* Ceylan et al. (2020, p.820). Their conclusions highlight the importance for welfare states to adjust social policies in a timely manner to counteract the negative effects on unemployment and industry-wide economic slowdown. In addition, by reviewing scientific literature, the research evaluates most of the known epidemics and their impact on socio-politics and economics. This provides a solid basis for the possible determination of COVID-19 response, although it could be outlined as a disadvantage that one of the last and most devastating diseases – the Spanish flu – dates back to 1918-1920, a hundred years ago.

The research of Ceylan et al. (2020) highlights policy reactions not only to the Spanish flu, but also to the Medieval plague and its variations, and closer epidemic records such as "SARS-COV" ("Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome") of 2002-2003, "avian

influenza" ("H5N1") of 2004-2006 and *"MERS-COV" ("Middle East respiratory syndrome")* of 2012. This research evaluates the influence of previous infection outbreaks from a historical viewpoint, providing an overview of the current COVID-19 situation as well as some policy insights, thus giving opportunity to make a comparison.

The features that differentiate COVID-19 from other recent epidemics, are its geographical distribution in terms of its contagion, causalities, and death toll. Similarities could be found regarding quarantine and measures such as wearing of masks, distance and disinfection. SARS-COV, like COVID-19, has also started in China, but affected only Singapore, Taiwan, the United States of America and Canada, and not Europe. MERS-COV mostly affected the Middle East.

Ceylan et al. (2020) also argue that previous epidemics have had significant impact on economics and politics. Bell and Lewis (2004) note that the Black Death that emerged during the middle ages, changed the reality of how labour was allocated, challenged the status-quo by transitioning to contractual based work and opened new opportunities. This also changed the mechanisms of how capital was accumulated. Clark (2016) writes that to the decrease of population lead to a temporary increase of economic efficiency considering the lack of available human resources as demand for labour steadily increased after 14th century as a result of the Black Death. Ceylan et al. (2020) point out that the critically decreased labour force and the destroyed land resources pushed Europe to seek for resources, resulting in the discovery of North and South America.

Furthermore, Pamuk (2007) outlines the shift in the period between the year 1300 and the year 1800 from rural to urban, with fast increasing urbanisation rates as a result of the epidemic. As Ceylan et al. (2020) clarify, although these changes took place throughout centuries and the exact consequences of the plague are difficult to quantify, it is evident that it has led to labour market changes.

Barro and Ursua (2008) review the impact of crisis on consumption and GDP from 1870 to 2006, arguing that the Spanish Flu epidemic of 1918-1920 is responsible for a GDP contraction across Europe. In a later study, Barro et al. (2020) measure the contraction of consumption and GDP during the Influenza epidemic to be approximately 7% and 6%, respectively.

Burns et al. (2006) review that the avian influenza (H5N1) affected the poultry sector leading to a possible contraction between 0.1% and 0.7% of GDP. In addition, Chang et al. (2007) find a contraction of approximately between 4.2% and 5.9% in GDP and between 4.9% to 6.4% decrease in labour demand in Vietnam.

The comparison shows that during SARS-COV travel and transportation industries were seriously affected. Ceylan et al. (2020) notes that due to the enforcement of lockdowns and voluntary social distancing because of COVID-19, sectors like travel, aviation, tourism and hospitality were impacted, which resulted in increase of unemployment in those areas.

Castles (2010, p.91) analysis shows that the severity of "black swan" events¹ is often superficially decreased to preserve welfare states and avoid remedy actions for welfare policies. As "sudden and unexpected national and international emergencies" the author uses the example of "war, economic depression, hyperinflation and, more prospectively and topically, mass epidemics, terrorist incidents and environmental catastrophes". Castles (2010, p.100) suggests that "governments are unlikely to be successful in coping with such problems if they attempt to use the techniques of modern political management to keep "black swans" mute". Although, the argumentation of the author is valid for the provided examples, COVID-19 stands out as an exception to his argumentation. Instead of a suppressed response, EU Member States were on highest level of alert, introducing multiple lockdowns, increasing spending and accumulating more debt.

Recent OECD and ILO studies shed a light on unemployment developments in times of crisis, comparing the impact from the coronavirus on jobs. According to the OECD Employment Outlook 2020, in comparison to the first couple of months of the GFC, as an effect of COVID-19 and the associated social distancing measures, some of the OECD countries reported a tenfold decrease of worked hours. Due to coronavirus, millions of people lost access to work, which led to a sharp decline in activity and to large-scale job losses. The OECD is not expecting a start of the recovery of jobs in 2021 (OECD, 2020).

¹ Nassim Nicholas Taleb (2007) introduced the term "black swan" in the context of the GFC of 2008-2009. In general, a black swan is "an unpredictable event that is beyond what is normally expected of a situation and has potentially severe consequences... Taleb argued that because black swan events are impossible to predict due to their extreme rarity, yet have catastrophic consequences, it is important for people to always assume a black swan event is a possibility, whatever it may be, and to try to plan accordingly" (Investopedia, 2021).

Estimates by the International Labour Organisation (ILO, 2020) state that COVID-19 led to a 309 million lost jobs worldwide, which totals to 10.5% decrease in the period April-June 2020. The assessment for the first quarter of 2020 showed 195 million job losses while the unemployment rate increased roughly by 60% by mid-April 2020.

The number of institutional papers analysing the COVID-19 impact are also growing. Often the studies are related to the effects on the economy, serve as a base for economic projections (like the IMFs *"World Economic Outlook" report*, for example) and try to shape the recovery phase.

Anderton et al. (2020) assess the effect of the coronavirus on the euro area labour market in a comprehensive ECB paper. The authors emphasise that employment and total hours worked in the euro area declined at the sharpest rates on record. By using a sign-restricted structural vector-autoregressive (SVAR) model they came to the conclusion that a third of the reduction of work hours that occurred in the period April-June 2020 is due the shocks on productivity and labour supply, whilst the shock on demand is measured to be around one quarter of work hours. Their analysis also suggests that the negative effects on unemployment were reduced due to government support and the strategy to reduce work hours instead of contract terminations Anderton et al. (2020). In addition, in the first half of 2020 the labour force declined by approximately 5 million, which is by 0.5 million more compared to the increase in the period 2013-2019.

By using a resilience framework, Houston (2020, p.1191) considers initial factors for the rise of unemployment rates in the UK during the initial phase of the pandemic and first restriction policies where introduced. The analysis is based on observations about unemployment rates before lockdown was introduced and the rates of employment in job sectors severely affected by the restrictions. Houston (2020, p.1201) argues that unemployment rates before lockdown were introduced is a stronger predictor when compared to unemployment increase in affected sectors for the month when restrictions were first introduced in Great Britain. His evidence points out a relatively strong relationship between unemployment pre-COVID-19 and the increase of unemployment after lockdown was introduced and employment prior COVID-19 for sectors that where affected the most.

According to Tooze (2020), during the GFC, the number of monthly lost jobs in the US surpassed 750 thousand between December 2008 and March 2009. The recorded unemployment rate peak was 10% in October 2009. The total of lost jobs for the course of the recession reached 8.7 million. Nowadays, as a consequence from the coronavirus pandemic, at the end of March 2020, for just two weeks, the number of US-citizen unemployment benefit applications reached a record-high volume of 10 million. In just a 14-day period, the previous record, set during the GFC, of 6.6 million people who claimed benefits was surpassed. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020) states that unemployment rate in April 2020 increased to 14.7%. This was the record rate and the highest monthly rise since the data collection began in January 1948. In April 2020, the unemployment increased by 15.9 million to 23.1 million, surpassing the negative record from the GFC.

According to the most recent data of the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics data (2021b), in April 2021, the reported volume of people who lost access to work due to closure or loss of business because of COVID-19 was 9.4 million. Individuals that fall under this category, according to the US BLS definition, are those who worked reduced or zero hours in the period of 4 weeks as a result of the coronavirus. The figure declined by 2 million, from 11.4 million, in comparison with March 2021. In April 2021, 2.8 million people were not able to search for work due to COVID-19. The volume for March 2021 was 3.7 million.

By the use of empirical analysis and econometric models, Bianco et al. (2014) try to identify the role of labour policies in influencing the link between unemployment (total and youth) and the economic and financial crisis in 30 countries (the 28 EU Member States, Iceland and Norway), observed on an annual basis in the 1990-2012 period. The research emphasizes that liberal giving of unemployment benefits can be damaging during crisis, however, used sparingly, they can serve as a useful policy instrument (Bianco et al.2014, p.28). Furthermore, the authors argue that labour policies like training and rehabilitation incentives are more useful during crisis as they help to quickly reduce unemployment. Lastly, Bianco et al. (2014) brings out the importance of policies specially targeting young individuals, as they are more vulnerable a time of crisis.

Stamatev (2019) researches the characteristics, problems and prospects of the dynamics of youth unemployment in Bulgaria against the backdrop of demographic changes and labour force mobility in the period of 2008-2017, marked by the GFC and the economic recovery from it. The main argument of the research states that regardless of the undertaken reforms during that period, there are still alarming tendencies and contradictions when it comes to the realization of the young people in the labour market. Through a national representative survey conducted among the youth population and employers in Bulgaria, Stamatev (2019) identifies and reaffirms important aspects of young people's social and economic environment, employers' overall attitudes towards staff requirement in general and in crisis times.

The cited papers bring evidence for the diversity of research and underline the different angle for assessing the relation between crisis, economy and unemployment.

Academic research focused on socio-politic dimensions of the coronavirus pandemic has also been amplified. By the use of process-tracing, Sullivan & Wolff (2021) research the specifics of state aid for selected sectors in the context of political economy (that of KLM in loans and loan guarantees of EUR 3.4 billion), which occurred due to the coronavirus pandemic. The authors find that elected leaders' actions were motivated by the potential of gaining more votes. Furthermore, the influence interest groups affected the decisions for the volume of potential aid for the analysed hospitality and aviation sectors. Blofield, Hoffmann and Llanos (2020) assess the socio-political impact of the COVID-19 crisis in Latin America. They asses that government support in Chile did not provide sufficient help to the vulnerable groups. Contrastingly, Peru and Argentina are pointed as a good examples for quick coordination in their response. Brazil and Mexico deny the severity of COVID-19. The authors also warn of a post-COVID-19 economic crisis, the severity of which could depend on the state of the economies after the lockdowns, and could be exacerbated by external shocks.

McKee et al. (2020) warn about the risks of COVID-19 stimulating the rise of populism, which can reversely have a negative effect on public health as COVID-19 infections rise. By looking at four mechanisms, the authors search for evidence supporting the connection between states where the populist narrative dominates and preventative actions against the pandemic are poor. They suggest potential mechanisms for the

correlation between COVID-19 spread and populism like blaming outsiders and victims, contempt for institutions, denialism and suspicion towards elites.

Casey and Gold (2006) research how EU member states attempt to promote the spread of labour market programmes. They evaluate the extent to which the peer review procedure, which entails encouragement on visitations from and to countries with the aim to review evaluate policy measures and approaches, has helped for the better understanding of the need for transferring some key aspects of the programmes. The results show critical obstacles for the diffusion of good practices and policies. It has to be clarified that the authors' observations were at a point when Bulgaria was not an EU member, thus the general conclusions might differ, and given the time span of the study.²

Singh and Singh (2020, p.1) outline that isolation and social distancing have severe negative effect on social interactions. The authors emphasize the role of communication, relations and general integration have found their way at the core of human existence. Their absence could have unintended impact on the life of individuals and the collective society as a whole (Singh and Singh (2020, p.1).

Pindyck (2020) studies how the progression of the pandemic is affected by the intensity and duration of social distancing policies and outlines key factors that underline the evolution of the pandemic through contagion and the subsequent policy design by applying econometric analysis. He discusses the measurement of the value of saved lives (VLS) and the limitations of the research, regarding the early stage of COVID-19 and before vaccine development.

 $^{^2}$ Bulgaria joined the EU on the $1^{\rm st}$ of January 2007.

III. RESEARCH DESIGN

3.1. Methodology

In order to achieve the objectives of the research, a comparative case study based on process tracing as main research method is applied in this thesis. Technics like comparative analysis, evaluation and description of information and data analysis add up to the design and enrichment of the qualitative research.

Furthermore, the research and the analysis detailed in Chapter IV of the thesis complement studies in the field of assessing the effects from COVID-19, more generally, and on the labour market, as well as more specifically, by using comparative case study research design based on process tracing.

3.2. Process tracing

This point of the thesis provides theoretical details about process tracing and includes the definition of variables, thus setting the grounds for the analysis in Chapter IV.

Collier (2011, p.823) gives the following definition of process tracing: "systematic examination of diagnostic evidence selected and analysed in light of research questions and hypotheses posed by the investigator". In their book, George & Bennett (2005, p.138), describe process-tracing as a method, which serves to identify all related causal processes, measure consistency in the relation between variables and clarify any cases that deviate from the theory or the expected outcome. The view of Craig Thomas (2006, p.173) is that through process tracing "multiple types of evidence are employed for the verification of a single inference".

Collier (2011, p.823) distinguishes the approach in three ways – as causal-process observations (CPOs), description and sequence. According to Mahoney (2010), the strength of process tracing as a method is the ability to provide detailed information and insights of a specific case, highlighting mechanisms, causes and sequences of interaction between each variable. Collier (2011, p.824) discusses the use cases of process tracing to qualitative and quantitative research methods. According to Thomas (2006), one of the main characteristics of process tracing is that it leans heavily on general assumptions,

which may be highly theoretical (established "laws") or pre-theoretical (based on "common sense").

For the purpose of the master thesis, the definitions and guidelines by Collier (2011), Mahoney (2010) and Thomas (2006), discussed above, will serve as a basis for the process tracing as a main research method³. The statement of Collier (2011, p.824) that qualitative tools such as process tracing *"can add leverage in quantitative analysis"* is also one of the cornerstones in the development of the mater thesis.

The comparative case study in the thesis regarding the effects of COVID-19 on the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and Bulgaria and on the applied economic policies aimed at preserving jobs lays on the central distinction, as described by Mair (1998), "between different comparative methods depending on the key trade-off between the level of abstraction and the scope of countries being studied", as described by Mair (1998) and cited by Landman (2013, p.25). A comparative analysis of a "few countries" is applied, using a "middle level of conceptual abstraction", by the definitions described by Landman (2013).

After touching upon some of the main theoretical concepts of process tracing, used to define the approach, which will be followed⁴, the thesis continues with the determination of the dependent variable and the independent (also called factor) variables, with the aim to investigate if independent variables influence the dependent variable and at what aspect. Intervening variables are discussed as well.

For the purpose of the research in the thesis the labour policies introduced after COVID-19 are defined as the dependent variable. In general, the chosen independent variables are: (1) COVID-19 pandemic, (2) macroeconomic conditions and (3) institutional factors.

³ For the purpose of accomplishing the thesis' goal, the study will not be expanded to theoretical concepts and definitions of other authors.

Nevertheless, the academic literature about the methodology and its application were reviewed, like, for example, the four empirical tests: "*straw-in-the-wind*", "*hoop*", "*smoking-gun*" and "*doubly decisive*" addressed by Collier (2011), considering the work of Bennett (2010), who develops on the studies of Van Evera (1997). The classification is based on confirmation if a positive result is necessary and/or sufficient for validating the inference. The work of Beach and Pedersen (2013) in this regard is also considered.

⁴ The concrete steps and practical logic of the process tracing, as proposed by Beach and Pedersen (2019), is outlined at the end of point 3.2., on page 27.

Each one of the independent variables includes its own subcategory. Restrictions, number of infections and deaths fall in the COVID-19 subcategory. Macroeconomic conditions prior COVID-19 such as the slowdown of economic growth and record low unemployment levels are defined. The subcategories of institutional factors include investments and stimulating programs, aimed at preserving jobs and ensuring that economies have sufficient financial aid for reforms and sustainable development, fiscal and monetary policy already in place, public spending and debt accumulation, which is related to the restrictions for the budget deficits and debt-to-GDP ratios as part of the EU's Stability and Growth Pact (2021g).

Figure 1 provides more insights. The expected linkages are also outlined and the method of process tracing will be used to explain the arrow in between the cause and the outcome.



Figure 1. Dependent variable, independent and intervening variables – decomposition and linkages

Economic growth slowed before COVID-19

Record low unemployment prior COVID-19

In Figure 1, in the first place, regarding the deconstruction of COVID-19 as an independent variable, an overview of restrictions and measures, implemented by Bulgaria and the Netherlands to limit the spread of COVID-19 was done. The observed time period is from March 2020, when first coronavirus cases were registered, to May 2021, as the time of writing of the thesis. Data about number of infections and deaths has also been gathered.

Source: Own representation

In the second place, the macroeconomic conditions as an independent variable incorporates observations concerning the pre-COVID-19 period. In the course of 2019, there were signs that the European economy was losing steam as the GDP growth slowed down, which is confirmed by the statistics for GDP growth published by Eurostat. Low inflation, coupled with weak wage increases, which influenced the labour market, also well describe the economic situation before the pandemic. A record low unemployment level was registered by Eurostat as well. The weakening of the economy prompted governments to increase spending.

Third, institutional factors such as the general role of the EU for accumulating and distributing funds influences government spending. Programs and initiatives aimed at boosting investments have indirect effects on the labour market creating new jobs. The EU's Stability and Growth Pact (2021g) sets restrictions for the budget deficit (-3% of GDP) and debt-to-GDP ratios (<60% of GDP), but some countries broke them even before the pandemic, and others have never managed to lower them below the thresholds. Prior to COVID-19 the EU did not have programs with the ideal purpose of job preservation, nor schemes designed to foster economic recovery after the slowdown in 2019. But the coronavirus intensified those processes by bringing new challenges and opportunities. From a macroeconomic perspective, monetary and fiscal actions need to be reviewed together. Prior to COVID-19 the fiscal and monetary policy stance were already loose.

In Figure 1, vaccines, labour market and the role of the EU are pointed out as intervening variables, influenced by COVID-19, the macroeconomic conditions and institutional factors, respectively. The roll out of vaccines and the pace of vaccination of the population is crucial for strengthening the labour force and getting it back on track after government job retention schemes expire. The state of the labour market depends on the macroeconomic conjuncture, and vice versa. The unemployment rises in times of crisis in conjunction with the downturn of the economic cycle, leading to the formation of cyclical unemployment as a component of the overall unemployment. On the other hand, frictional unemployment is the type of unemployment resulting of voluntary employment transitions within the economy, for which seasonal factors, among others, could also play a certain role. The increase of the current unemployment rate is due to the coronavirus pandemic, which generated a health, social and economic crisis. The role of the EU as

an intervening variable could be viewed in the context of providing support to Member States with investments and programmes and ensuring that economies receive sufficient financial aid for reforms and sustainable development, thus connecting to both institutional factors and labour policy. This is an example of the fact that each of the factors have some kind of connection to other variables.

After the variables have been defined and causal linkages outlined, they will be traced empirically in Chapter IV, thus allowing to make causal inferences and conclusions. The process tracing itself will apply the following logic, as proposed by Beach and Pedersen (2019) about the theory-testing process tracing:

1. Conceptualization, where at theoretical level the cause (COVID-19) that triggers the process (labour policy and government intervention) will be outlined. The expected outcome would be related to the level of unemployment as regards to job retention schemes.

2. Operationalization, for defining causal mechanisms that bind causes and outcomes together will be performed. It will include observations (about restrictions and lockdowns) and measurements (number of infections and COVID-19 related deaths) of the cause, as well as propositions based on empirical analysis⁵. They will be directed to the outcome (labour policy after COVID-19, examining the level of unemployment and the amount of government expenditures, related to job retention schemes), with the main aim of measuring the outcome. By the definitions, described by Landman (2013), a comparative analysis of a *"few countries"* is applied (the Netherlands and Bulgaria), using a *"middle level of conceptual abstraction"*.

3. Collection and evaluation of evidence will be drawn. Conclusions about the internal validity of the process tracing method will be made, knowing that it is often achieved through activities (like the steps in point 2 and 3 above) of each part of causal process (mechanism) linking cause(s) to outcome within the performed comparative case study.

⁵ The data sources are defined in point 3.3. of Chapter III, while the analysis is in Chapter IV.

3.3. Data selection and sources

For the purpose of the analysis in Chapter IV diverse data sets were collected and thoroughly assessed.

The unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands and Bulgaria are put in the context of COVID-19 and are compared to the unemployment level dynamics in the EU and the euro area. The observation of different long (annual) and short (monthly and quarterly) periods provide the big picture for the state of the job market after the Great Financial Crisis, as well as the basis for comparing pre- and post-COVID-19 periods and its effects on the unemployment.

Table 1 provides a summary of the various sources, containing rich databases and datasets and information about the institutions, which publish them, the country and the region for which they apply and the period of the time series.

Type of data	Data source / Institution	Country / Area / Region	Period of the time series
Unemployment rate	Labour Force Survey	Bulgaria	Annual,
Employment	(LFS) /	the Netherlands	quarterly,
Part-time employment and	Eurostat	EU	monthly
temporary contracts		Euro area	
Recent job starters,			
Unemployment by educational			
attainment			
Youth unemployment			
Employed persons working	Detailed annual survey	Bulgaria	Annual
from home as a percentage of	results of LFS series /	the Netherlands	
the total employment	Eurostat	EU Member States	
		Euro area members	
		EU	
		Euro area	
Unemployment rate	Unemployment dataset /	Bulgaria	Annual,
	National Statistical		quarterly,
	Institute of Bulgaria		monthly
Unemployed and	National Employment	Bulgaria	Monthly
unemployment rate	Agency of Bulgaria		
Unemployment rate	International Labour	Worldwide	Annual,
	Organisation		monthly

Table 1. Source of data

continued

Unemployment rate	Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor	USA	Annual, monthly
COVID-19 imposed and lifted restrictions, lockdown periods COVID-19 active cases COVID-19 infections COVID-19 deaths Administered vaccines	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)	Bulgaria the Netherlands	Monthly, weekly, daily
COVID-19 active cases COVID-19 infections COVID-19 deaths Administered vaccines	Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center	Bulgaria the Netherlands Worldwide	Monthly
COVID-19 policy tracker	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Bulgaria the Netherlands	Up to the most recent date
Job retention schemes	National Social Security Institute of Bulgaria	Bulgaria	Monthly
Budget expenditures Budget revenues Government deficit and debt GDP	Consolidated Fiscal Programme (CFP) / Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria (MF) Eurostat	Bulgaria	Annual, quarterly
Budget expenditures Budget revenues Government deficit and debt GDP	Statistics Netherlands Eurostat	the Netherlands	Annual
Employees included in job aid programmes	OECD Employment Outlook	the Netherlands Worldwide	Annual
EU financial assistance to the Member States	Factsheets / European Commission Recovery Plan for Europe Next Generation EU SURE	Bulgaria the Netherlands EU Member States Euro area members EU Euro area	Up to the most recent date

Source: Own representation

Regarding COVID-19, an overview of restrictions and measures, implemented by Bulgaria and the Netherlands to limit the spread of COVID-19 was done, using European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) data. Figure 2 contains the timeline for Bulgaria and Figure 3 – the timeline for the Netherlands, which includes COVID-19

infections and detailed restrictions and measures for the March 2020-May 2021 period⁶. The process of imposing and lifting the restrictions, as well as their duration, could be followed on both figures. Those figures will be used extensively to link the causes with the outcome in the next chapter.

⁶ For convenience of the readers, the timelines could be viewed in real time at <u>https://time.graphics/line/485032</u>. They are developed by the author using European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) data. The ECDC response since the beginning of COVID-19 pandemic could be traced in another timeline – <u>https://bit.ly/3fOpkXW</u>., where also reports an additional information could be found.



Figure 2. COVID-19 infections, restrictions and measures – timeline for Bulgaria (March 2020 – May 2021)

Source: ECDC, own representation using time.graphics in real time - <u>https://time.graphics/line/485032</u>

Figure 3. COVID-19 infections, restrictions and measures – timeline for the Netherlands (March 2020 – May 2021)



Source: ECDC, own representation using time.graphics in real time - <u>https://time.graphics/line/485032</u>

3.4. Reliability and limitations

As regards to the possible limitations, the scope of the research is limited to the time of writing, which is May 2021, while the coronavirus is still unfolding, on the back of acceleration of the manufacturing, distribution and administering of vaccines.

The descriptive part in the research somewhat prevails the analytics, but this reflects a precise choice, since the main subject of the analysis is an on-going process. Therefore, it is possible to trace and describe the events, surrounding COVID-19 and its effects, but any kind of in-depth analysis could be perceived as insufficient at this stage.

The gathered and analysed empirical data to the most recent moment, at the time of writing, could be pointed as one of the strengths of the research. The summary of the data in 6 tables and the data visualisation in 21 figures, providing the opportunity to view and interpret the situation, posed by COVID-19, in different angles and perspectives, could be viewed as other strengths.

Nevertheless, the complete effects from the coronavirus on economy and jobs are yet to be explored as new evidence and data are coming in almost every day. The data constraint poses another challenge regarding the full scope of the research.

In this regard, the exclusion of potential intervening variables could be pointed out as one of the weaknesses of the study. For example, although other factors could also potentially influence the labour policy after COVID-19, governments' reactions and economic conditions, such as political situation, major law changes, country-specific developments and processes, etc., they are not included intentionally. Other variables affecting the labour market, such as wage growth, number of hours worked and job openings were also excluded. The general view is the structure and linkages of the chosen variables to be kept streamlined.

IV. ANALYSIS: COMPARATIVE CASE STUDY

This chapter contains the analysis of the unemployment dynamics in the Netherlands and Bulgaria and the government policy response in the two EU Member States. Specifics regarding observed effects from COVID-19 are also described. The research in this part is done by using process tracing comparative case study methods. The process tracing will apply the logic, outlined in point 3.3. in Chapter III.

The main aim will be to trace how the cause – COVID-19 – triggers the process – labour policy and government interventions. Second, as regards to the defined variables, causal mechanisms that bind causes and outcomes together will be outlined. This will be done by observations (about restrictions and lockdowns) and measurements (number of infections and COVID-19 related deaths) of the cause, as well as by making propositions based on the empirical analysis. The expected outcome will be related to the labour policy after COVID-19, examining the level of unemployment and the amount of government expenditures, related to job retention schemes. At the end, collection and evaluation of evidence will be drawn.

The role of the Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency (SURE) instrument, the Recovery Plan for Europe and Next Generation EU for the sustainability of the economies of the EU Member States is also discussed in this chapter.

4.1. Unemployment dynamics in the Netherlands and Bulgaria

The first point of Chapter IV includes an overview and analysis of the unemployment dynamics in the Netherlands and Bulgaria, outlining the subcategory *"level of unemployment"* as part of the dependent variable *"labour policy after COVID-19"*. The influence of COVID-19 and macroeconomic conditions as independent variables and the link with the two intervening variables – vaccines and state of the labour market – is also discussed. The cause and the outcomes will be linked to the timelines in Figure 2 and Figure 3, with the main aim to underline the causal mechanism outlined in Figure 1.

In comparison to the period before the GFC from 2008-2009, the unemployment in Europe, as well as in the Netherlands and Bulgaria, followed a downward trend. At the end of 2008, the unemployment level hit a low of 7.2% in the EU, 7.5% in the euro area,

5.6% in Bulgaria and 3.7% in the Netherlands. When the GFC hit, the unemployment started to rise, reaching a peak in 2013-2014, as it can be observed in Figure 4. At the end of 2013, the unemployment level increased to 11% in the EU, 12% in the euro area and to 13% in Bulgaria. The unemployment in the Netherlands reached its high of 7.4% in 2014.

Figure 4. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from January 2005 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%)



Source: Eurostat

Figure 5. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from January 2013 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%)



Source: Eurostat
Since then, the unemployment started to decrease and followed a continued downward trend until the end of 2019 and the beginning of 2020, when COVID-19 hit the European continent. This pronounced downward trend can be observed in Figure 5, as well as the breaking of the trend after Q1 2020, when the first coronavirus infections were recorded in the Netherlands and Bulgaria (February/March 2020).

Before COVID-19, at the end of 2019, the unemployment declined to an all-time low of 6.7% in the EU, 7.5% in the euro area, 4.2% in Bulgaria and 3.4% in the Netherlands. The levels were at their record lows, since Eurostat began gathering unemployment data for the EU, euro area and the Member States back in 2000. It could be easily spotted that the unemployment rate dynamics in the pre-GFC period are similar to the unemployment rate trends in the pre-COVID-19 period. Those developments were valid regarding the macroeconomic conditions, as independent variable, prior COVID-19, and shaped the state of the labour market and the level of unemployment.

Figure 6 gives a more recent view for the unemployment rate increase in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, European Union and euro area. The observed period stems from January 2019 to March 2021. As the graph shows, the unemployment spiked rapidly at the end of Q1 2020 and in Q2 2020, when the first COVID-19 wave hit Europe and when the first severe lockdowns were imposed. This was the first evidence regarding the influence of COVID-19, as independent variable, to the level of unemployment and served as a preliminary indicator about the potential government response.

The increase of the unemployment level in Bulgaria is more pronounced than the increase of the unemployment in the Netherlands. It rose from 4.4% in March 2020 to 5.9% in April 2020, reaching a peak of 6% in May 2020, due to the strict lockdown which was in place, with closures of businesses and schools, after the National Assembly of the Republic of Bulgaria declared state of emergency in mid-March 2020. Employers started lay-offs and put employees on an unpaid leave. The rate of unemployment in Bulgaria started to stabilise in the second half of 2020 (EC, 2021b), before levelling off at 5.1% in 2020 from 4.2% in 2019.

Figure 6. Unemployment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from January 2019 to March 2021 (monthly data) (%) and EC forecast for 2021 and 2022



Source: Eurostat; Forecast: European Commission (2021b) Note: The grey areas represent an approximate duration of the first, second and third wave of COVID-19 diffusion

In comparison, the unemployment level in the Netherlands rose from 2.9% in March 2020 to 3.4% in April 2020 and 3.6% in May 2020, but the peak of 4.6% was observed in August 2020. Authorities in the Netherlands enforced partial lockdown and other social distancing measures in end of February as a response to the first wave of infections. These measures were gradually lifted after May 11th 2020, however, as infection numbers increased containment measures were reintroduced in late summer and in the autumn of 2020, influencing employment levels (IMF, 2021a). The dynamics described above could be traced in Figure 7.

Figure 7. Number of COVID-19 infections in the Netherlands and part of the implemented measures in the summer and in the autumn of 2020⁷



Source: ECDC

As a response to the surge of infections between August and December 2020, Dutch authorities introduced a hard lockdown in attempt to fight the spread of COVID-19. The restrictions included closures of schools, day-cares, public spaces (including parks) and all non-essential businesses. Compared to Bulgaria, these measures in the Netherlands were stricter.

As a contrast, as the first lockdown was lifted and government job retention schemes were unveiled, the unemployment level in Bulgaria started to decline in the summer period. Seasonal factors, related to the tourist and agriculture sectors also influence the unemployment rate developments in Bulgaria in the summer and early autumn months. In the meantime, the state of emergency, which the Bulgarian National Assembly declared in mid-March 2020, was replaced with *"extraordinary epidemic situation"*.

The unemployment in the EU and in the euro area also increased with a certain lag, in the summer months of 2020. The peak was in August-September 2020, when the rate was 7.8% and 8.7% for those two months, for the EU and in the euro area, respectively.

Another contrast can be spotted in Figure 6. After a mild and well contained first wave of the epidemic in March-May 2020, the unemployment in Bulgaria increased again in late autumn and in the winter months of 2020, when the second and third wave of

⁷ For detailed timeframe of the imposed measures in the Netherlands, refer to Figure 2 on page 32.

COVID-19 infections and increased deaths led to new lockdowns and restrictive measures, albeit less severe than during the first wave. At the same time, the unemployment in the Netherlands continued to decrease, while the levels in the EU and euro area remained somewhat flat.

The described developments show that the effects of the coronavirus restrictions and rising number of infections, as subcategories of COVID-19 as independent variable, influence the level of unemployment in the first months of the pandemic, when there were still many unknowns surrounding the severity of the virus and the overall potential economic impact.

Figure 6 also incorporates the recent forecast of the European Commission (2021b). According to the EC (2021b, p.86), unemployment in the Netherlands "has so far been only moderately affected, remaining at a rate below 4% due to effective government support measures preventing lay-offs, labour hoarding and a continuous recovery in the business services and the government sectors where employment has been increasing". Assuming that the emergency support package in the Netherlands, which was introduced in the spring of 2020, fades out, together with the easing of containment measures, lay-offs mainly concentrated in the younger cohort of the labour force would be expected (EC, 2021b, p.86). On the other hand, "robust growth in the manufacturing sector and a strong recovery in ICT and business services is expected to partly offset employment losses in other industries over the forecast horizon, while the government sector is set to hold onto the additional personnel hired during the crisis, the EC forecasts underlines" (EC, 2021b, p.86-87). The outlined expectations underline the causal link that COVID-19 has played in shaping the labour policy due to the coronavirus.

Overall, despite the projected economic recovery, as stated by the EC Spring 2021 Economic Forecast (2021b, p.87), the unemployment rate in the Netherlands would begin to accelerate in the second half of 2021, reaching a peak in early 2022. The EC expects (2021b, p.87) the unemployment rate in the Netherlands to increase to 4.3% in 2021 from 3.8% in 2020 and to 4.4% in 2022.

In contrast, albeit the unemployment rate in Bulgaria has significantly increased since the beginning of the pandemic, the EC forecasts that the unemployment rate in Bulgaria would decrease to 4.8% in 2021 from 5.1% in 2020 and to drop under its pre-crisis level of 4.2% in 2022 (EC, 2021b, p.101). This would mean that the unemployment rate in Bulgaria could be lower than the rate in the Netherlands in 2022, which would happen for the first time, since 2000, when Eurostat began gathering statistical data for the labour market.

Furthermore, according to the NEA data, in April 2021, unemployment in Bulgaria already reached its pre-pandemic levels. In the fourth month of 2021 the unemployment rate in Bulgaria decreased to 6.1% from 6.5% in March 2021. In comparison, the NEA reported a 6.2% unemployment level in Bulgaria in February 2020, which was the last month without national blockades and restrictions due to the pandemic. On an annual basis, the NEA also registered a decline – by 2.8 percentage points – from 8.9% in April 2020, when Bulgaria was at its first peak of the coronavirus wave and in a complete lockdown. The recent developments in Bulgaria show that COVID-19 influenced the unemployment in the first months and quarters of the pandemic, while one year later the NEA statistics points out to a gradual returning to pre-pandemic levels. For that period, three lockdowns were imposed and the take-up of government supporting schemes increased.

Figure 8. Employment rate dynamics in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from January 2019 to March 2021 (annual data) (%)



Source: Eurostat

Regarding the macroeconomic conditions, characterized with a favourable economic situation in the last couple of years preceding the pandemic, albeit noticing a certain slowdown of GDP growth rates in the last two to three quarters in 2019 prior COVID-19, employment in Bulgaria increased, reaching a record high of 73.2% at the end of 2019, a shy below the EU average of 73.4% and 73.7% for the euro area, as observed in Figure 8. At the end of 2020, the rate declined to 72.2%. At the same time, at the end of 2020, the employment in the Netherlands remained at its record level of 80.9%, reached in 2019. Furthermore, the EC (2021b, p.87) forecasts that the labour force participation rate in the Netherlands would remain high.

The review of the labour market developments, as incorporated by the dependent variable, in regard of the COVID-19 pandemic, as independent variable and its subcategories, continues with the analysis of the part-time employment (Figure 9) and temporary contracts (Figure 10) in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria. According to the IMF (2021a), "the pandemic highlighted the comparatively vulnerable position of the self-employed and workers with flexible contracts". While the share of part-time employment to the overall employment in the Netherlands rose to 51.2% at the end of Q4 2020 from 50.2% at the end of Q4 2019, the share in Bulgaria declined and remained low – 1.7% at the end of Q4 2020 compared to 2.1% in Q2 2020.



Figure 9. Part-time employment in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%)

Source: Eurostat

The share of employees working on a temporary contract in the Netherlands decreased to 14.8% at the end of Q4 2020 from 16% at the end of Q4 2019 and nearly 18% in 2018. In Bulgaria the rate decreased to 3.2% at the end of Q4 2020 from 4% at the end of Q4 2019, as Figure 10 shows.

Figure 10. Temporary contracts in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%)



Source: Eurostat

The observations regarding the influence of COVID-19 as independent variable on labour market developments continues by looking it at the angle of education. The COVID-19 pandemic had a different effect on the unemployment in terms of educational attainment. Historically and by social and economic reasons, the unemployment level among people with less than primary, primary and lower secondary education (levels 0-2) is high.

Figure 11. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - less than primary, primary and lower secondary education (levels 0-2)



Source: Eurostat

As observed in Figure 11, the unemployment rate in this group rose in the euro area and in the EU, as well as in the Netherlands and Bulgaria. The graph clearly shows that the average rate in the Netherlands (6.9% in Q4 2020) is way lower than the EU average (13.9% in Q4 2020), while the rate in Bulgaria (14.7%) is higher than the EU average.

The unemployment level among people falling within the category "*with upper secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education (levels 3 and 4)*", as observed in Figure 12, spiked in Bulgaria in Q2 2020, while an increase in the Netherlands was registered in Q3 2020, as an evidence for the causal relationship between COVID-19 and level of unemployment.

The same pattern could be observed for the unemployment level among people "*with tertiary education (levels 5-8)*" in Figure 13. The rate in Bulgaria fluctuated in 2020, but the year finished with a decrease to 2.3%. The data showed a moderate increase in the Netherlands (to 2.8% at the end of Q4 2020 from 2.3% at the end of Q4 2019).

Furthermore, at the end of Q1 2021, the share of unemployed with secondary or primary education in Bulgaria stood at 88.5%, as the complementary data from the NSI shows.

The described developments in Figure 11, 12 and 13 provide evidence for a more pronounced effects of COVID-19 on unemployment level among people within the category "with less than primary, primary and lower secondary education (levels 0-2)" and falling in the category "with upper secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education (levels 3 and 4)" in Bulgaria than in the Netherlands. On the other hand, the unemployment level among people with tertiary education (levels 5-8) in the Netherlands increased in the course of 2020, in comparison with the trend in Bulgaria.

In March and April 2021 some restrictions in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria were slightly relaxed. Secondary schools were reopened (after the reopening of primary schools earlier on), while the pupils in Bulgaria gradually got back to school until the full return of all students at the end of May 2021, among other measures. School and university closures might have an effect on youth unemployment, but this will be discussed later.

Figure 12. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - upper secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education (levels 3 and 4)



Source: Eurostat

Figure 13. Unemployment by educational attainment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (quarterly data) (%) - tertiary education (levels 5-8)



Source: Eurostat

The comparative analysis continues with observations about the influence of COVID-19 and the imposed restrictions on the changes of the labour policy. As Eurostat (2021d) points out, "the social distancing measures that were introduced as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic forced many people to work from home. In 2020, 12.3% of employed people aged 15-64 in the EU usually worked from home, although this share had remained constant at around 5% over the past decade" (Eurostat, 2021d).

The trends showed in Figure 14 could serve as an evidence for the differences in preand post-COVID-19 labour market reality.



Figure 14. Dynamics of employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total employment in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period from 2008 to 2020 (annual data) (%)

Source: Eurostat

As Eurostat (2021d) data shows, in the last couple of years, the share of self-employed individuals who teleworked was regularly higher in comparison to those employed. Nevertheless, in 2020, the gap was reduced as the proportion of employed individuals who worked remotely increased to 10.8% in 2020 from 3.8% in the previous year. The increase of teleworking was smaller for self-employed with reported only 2.6% increase in 2020 totalling to 22%.

Young individuals were less likely to telework in 2020 in comparison to other age groups. Eurostat (2021d) reported the following percentages for regular teleworking divided by age groups: between 15 and 24^8 years old – 6.3%; between 25 and 49 years old – 13%; between 50 and 64 years old – 12.4%.

Figure 14 represents the dynamics of employed individuals working remotely as a share of the total employment rate in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area for the period

⁸ Note: According to the Eurostat (2021a, p.3) methodology and definitions, "the youth unemployment rate is the number of people aged 15 to 24 unemployed as a percentage of the labour force of the same age. Therefore, the youth unemployment rate should not be interpreted as the share of jobless people in the overall youth population".

from 2008 to 2020. After a second and more severe wave of infections started late in the summer of 2020 and due to the surge of the number of infections (as part of the subgroup of COVID-19 as an independent variable), the Dutch authorities required people to telework unless not possible, to avoid using public transportation, maintain social distance, reduce gatherings to no more than one guest from a different household (but 3 during Christmas holidays) and avoid traveling abroad (IMF, 2021a). These restrictions were enforced from the 15th of December 2020 to the 9th of February 2021 and extended until the 27th of April 2021. A curfew from 21:00 to 04:30 was also introduced (the measure was active for the period from the 23rd of January to the 27th of April 2021), whilst Bulgaria did not impose such a measure. In addition, the requirement for a negative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test result remained in place for travellers to the Netherlands and to Bulgaria from high-risk countries.

In Bulgaria, the health authorities issued recommendations towards employers to allow their employees to work from home, if possible, and limited the share of employees working at the office to 50% of the office capacity. The tendencies clearly underpin the fact that the COVID-19 pandemic changed the way of working among the European citizens. Thus, COVID-19 as an independent variable influences labour policy as a dependent variable and the next two figures add to that argument. Figure 15 presents the share of employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total employment in the EU Member States in 2019 and Figure 16 provides a comparison for the year of 2020.



Figure 15. Employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total employment in the EU Member States in 2019 (%)

Source: Eurostat

Figure 16. Employed persons working from home as a percentage of the total employment in the EU Member States in 2020 (%)



Source: Eurostat

While the share of this group in Bulgaria is the lowest, it increased more than twofold in 2020 (1.2%) compared to 2019 (0.5%). The average for the last 10 years is just 0.5% as remote working in Bulgaria was not very common before the pandemic hit.

The rate in the Netherlands increased to 17.8% in 2020 from 14.1% in 2019, when the country had the highest level of unemployment. The Netherlands is one of a few EU countries, like Finland, Austria, Denmark, among others, which had established traditions in remote working in recent years, unlike Bulgaria, even prior COVID-19.

Furthermore, the average rates in the euro area and in the EU in 2020 also rose more than twofold compared to the previous year. In comparison, according to the BLS data (2021b), in the USA, in April 2021, because of the coronavirus pandemic, 18.3% of the employed teleworked, down from 21% in March 2021. This data refers to *"employed persons who teleworked or worked at home for pay at some point in the last 4 weeks specifically because of the pandemic"*, based on the definition of BLS (2021b).

As the COVID-19 pandemic unfolded in the course of 2020, the number of recent job starters provides somewhat positive indication for the job market, as illustrated in Figure 17, in parallel with the announced job supporting schemes in late spring and in the summer of 2020. In the Netherlands the number of recent job starters increased from 233 thousand in Q2 2020 to 282 thousand in Q3 2020 and to 291 thousand in Q4 2020. In Bulgaria 82.4 thousand people started a job in Q3 2020, while the number was 49.9 thousand in Q2 2020 and 61.7 thousand in Q4 2020.

Recent job starters are those persons who have started their employment in the last three months before the interview, according to the methodology by which the Eurostat gathers this data. Thus, it might be expected the statistics to show the recent developments with a certain lag. Nevertheless, a link between recent job starters and activated job retention schemes could be very plausible.



Figure 17. Recent job starters in the Netherlands and Bulgaria for the period from Q1 2018 to Q4 2020 (thousands)

Source: Eurostat

Going further with the causal mechanism and the interventions between the independent and dependent variables, COVID-19 took its toll on young people as the number and level of unemployed young people (under 25 years) increased. Compared to the end of 2019, the number of unemployed young people in Bulgaria increased from 14 thousand (9.3%) to 25 thousand (17.1%) in the beginning of 2021. As of the end of March 2021, there were 2.951 million (17.1%) unemployed young people in the EU and 2.373 in the euro area (17.2%), compared to the peak of 3.224 million (18.2%) and 2.677 million (18.9%) in August 2020, respectively. At the end of March 2021, that number for the Netherlands stood at 129 thousand versus peak of 164 thousand in August 2020, Eurostat data reveal. The number is way higher than the 94 thousand unemployed young people at the beginning of 2020, before the coronavirus hit.





Source: Eurostat

The level of unemployed young people in Bulgaria was 14.9% at the end of March 2021, while the rate in the Netherlands was 8.9%. The levels are higher than those registered in the first months after the GFC hit, as the comparison in Figure 18 shows and Bulgaria

is on par with the average for the EU and the euro area. The closures of schools and universities, which continued more than three quarters in those two countries, might have postponed first job starts among young people, but further observations and additional evidence should be gathered regarding this proposition.

The authorities of both countries have established plans for gradual reopening, which remain conditional on the trend and number of new infections. In the Netherlands, under the initial phase, effective after the 28th of April 2021, the curfew was lifted, outdoor areas of cafés and restaurants reopened, and stores could operate at limited capacity. Restaurants and cafés in Bulgaria reopened again on April 1, 2021.

The second phase in the Netherlands, initially scheduled to become effective on the 11th of May 2021, has been delayed because infections rate remained high, whilst in Bulgaria more measures were eased, for example, night-clubs and bars opened again. The Bulgarian government replaced the state of emergency, first introduced on the 13th of March 2020, with state of *"extraordinary epidemic situation"* on the 14th of May 2020 and extended it multiple times until the 31st of July 2021, based on the latest update. However, as a result of the decline of infections, majority of the restrictive measures in Bulgaria have been lifted in the course of the spring of 2021.

As of the 31st of May 2021, there were 1.67 million confirmed COVID-19 cases in the Netherlands and 418.8 thousand cases in Bulgaria. There were 17.9 thousand COVID-19 related deaths in the Netherlands and 17.7 thousand in Bulgaria.

The vaccination plan in the Netherlands began on the 6th of January 2021, and is being progressively rolled-out. As of the end of May 2021, the reported number of administrated vaccines in the Netherlands is around 8.85 million doses and approximately 17% of the population is fully vaccinated. The vaccination in Bulgaria started slowly, mainly due to supply disruptions of shots. Priority was given to most vulnerable groups. As of the end of May 2021, the reported number of administrated vaccines in Bulgaria is around 1.35 million doses and slightly above 8% of the population is already fully vaccinated, as the Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center (2021) data shows. This is the place where the role of vaccines as intervening variable is discussed. The roll out of vaccines and the pace of vaccination of the population is crucial

for strengthening the labour force and getting it back on track after government job retention schemes expire.

Given those observations, an inference could be made about the proposition that the trend of record low unemployment prior COVID-19, as part of the macroeconomic conditions as an independent variable, was broken due to COVID-19. On one hand, the lockdowns, imposed because of the surge in infections and deaths, as part of the COVID-19 as an independent variable, which were somewhat tougher in the first wave, led to layoffs and spike of the unemployment in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria, viewed in the vein of the dependent variable. The effects were more pronounced as regards to employees working from home, while the influence of unemployment in terms of educational attainment and on young people were mixed, depending on the observations of different groups. On the other hand, governments had to take fast decisions and to design supportive measures to help the labour market and the economy as a whole, given the then unknown consequences of the new virus.

The policy reaction against COVID-19 was concentrated in the health care sector in the first place. The design, timely adoption and fast implementation of support schemes, shaping the labour policy after COVID-19, were second. Due to the general response, including lockdowns, the pace of the spread of infections slowed down and businesses and households managed to receive their first financial aid through the various government supporting programmes, which are described and analysed in the next point.

4.2. Government policy response in the Netherlands and Bulgaria

This part of the thesis is dedicated to the detailed overview of government policy response to the coronavirus pandemic in two EU Member States – the Netherlands and Bulgaria., outlining stimulating programmes, fiscal policy (public spending, government debt levels and their implied restrictions) as subcategories of the independent variable *"institutional factors"* and budget expenditures as subcategory of the dependent variable *"labour policy after COVID-19"*. Propositions are made and the collected information is evaluated and discussed in terms of the outlined mechanism of the process tracing.

As pointed out in the EC published Joint Employment Report (2021c, p.43), "in the aftermath of the COVID-19 outbreak [independent variable], all Member States turned to short-time work (STW) schemes to mitigate the consequences of the economic shock on the labour market [towards the dependent variable]". These programmes have reached approximately 60 million people within the OECD member countries, as the organization data shows (OECD, 2020).

The EC (2021c, p.34) notes that according to publicly available data, STW schemes were widely applied across the EU, reaching record levels during the pandemic for all states. Sectors like services, hospitality and retail were the main beneficiaries of the schemes. Issues like slow adoption, implementation delays or design of the STW schemes in some countries, led to a relatively lower take-up in some of EU member states (EC, 2021c, p.34). In the example of Bulgaria, the requirement for firms to partake in the related costs could have reduced the rate of utilization of the scheme. This outlines the difficulties regarding the timely design and willingness for a fast implementation of such schemes in the first weeks and months of the pandemic.

The fiscal policy measures taken by the Bulgarian government in the course of 2020 have managed to cover key areas impacted by the pandemic. They were focused on the improvement of the medical services, providing fiscal assistance for employees and employers, and job loss prevention. The initial intention was for these measures to be used for a short time period, however, they were gradually extended in the course of 2020 and 2021 as a result of the continuation of the pandemic. According to the estimates of the IMF (2021b, p.8), the budget for discretionary fiscal support amounted to 2.5% of Bulgaria's GDP for 2020 as well as in 2021. Also, IMF recommends that a gradual withdrawal of fiscal stimulus would only be appropriate when coupled with resilient economic recovery. This underpins the proposition for a continuous influence of such labour market schemes after their implementation because of the virus.

The ongoing state measures to support employment also contribute to the favourable developments of reducing unemployment in the course of 2020 and in the beginning of 2021, as described in the first part of this chapter. These include Bulgaria's wage subsidy program the so-called "60/40" and "80/20" schemes for, hotels, restaurants, tourism and transport. The so-called "60/40" measure is a type of payroll support measure for

employers with closed businesses due to COVID-19. Under the measure's design, the Bulgarian state bears 60% of salary and social insurance costs, made by employers, while the employers must pay the remaining 40%. The so-called "80/20" measure had the same design. The main differences are related with the proportion – 80% is carried out by the state, while the other 20% are borne by the employers, and its application as it is valid only for hotels, restaurants, as well as for companies in the transport and tourism sectors. The aim of the measures is to help employers keep their employees.

The lift of series of restrictive measures, which had closed a number of economic activities, also influenced the labour market in a positive way, as new job openings increased, although some of them were job openings for old positions, as some employees (for example, in hotels and restaurants) were hired again after being laid-off because of the lockdowns.

The adjustment of the labour market in Bulgaria occurs mainly through the reduction of employment. In this respect, measures to support job retention have been one of the most important and effective as a means of counteracting the effects of the crisis. In addition to the job retention schemes, the IMF (2021b, p.10) acknowledges that *"the hiring subsidy and liquidity support to firms helped contain the rise in unemployment and boost the economic rebound since summer"*.

Such programs for preserving jobs were implemented by all EU countries, but unfortunately the Bulgarian government was among the few that did not include the selfemployed in the first place. Thus, a significant part of the work force, whose activity was limited by the crisis, was not among the first to receive compensation.

An overview of the fiscal policy response mix to the COVID-19 pandemic in Bulgaria is given in Table 2.

Table 2. Overview of fiscal policy response mix to COVID-19 in Bulgaria

Sector and type of support	Description
Expenditures in the health care	sector
1. Wages	Increase of wages and providing bonus payments to medical staff, employees in social services and administration, closely dealing with the pandemic
2. Subsidies	Providing state subsidies to hospitals and diagnostic centers
3. Additional spending	Expenditures for purchasing of medicines, medicaments, medical supplies and protective equipment
Employment support measures	
1. Job retention scheme "60/40" and "80/20"	Under the "60/40" measure the Bulgarian government covers 60% of the wages and social contribution of employers in affected sectors, while the remaining 40% are borne by the employers Under the "80/20" measure the state covers 80% of wages and social contributions for employers working in the tourist and
	transport sectors Eligibility criteria and sectoral conditions eased in July 2020. The measures were extended at least to July 2021 Fiscal impact: 0.9% of 2020 GDP
2. Subsidies for hiring unemployed	Companies, which hire an unemployed person receive 6- month subsidy (equal to the minimum wage in Bulgaria) Fiscal cost: 0.1% of GDP for 2020
Support to individuals	
1. Financial aid and assistance to vulnerable groups	1,200 artists receive the minimum wage for three months Monthly bonus to all pensioners from August 2020 to at least July 2021 Food donations to vulnerable people, including one-time financial aid for pensioners whose pension is at or below the line of poverty
2. Guarantees for zero interest loans	Bank guarantees providing wage-earners and self-employed a loan up to BGN 6,900 with no collateral,6 months to 2 years grace period, up to 5 years repayment period. Eligibility criteria eased in July 2020 and in February 2021 Deadline for application: end of June 2021. Possible extension to end-2021 Estimated impact: 0.2% of 2020 GDP
3. Social transfers increase	20% increase in minimum and maximum pensions levels in January 2021. Fiscal impact: 0.5% of GDP Permanent increase of the minimum sum of unemployment benefits from October 2020 by 33%. Fiscal cost in 2021: 0.01% of GDP Increase of the duration of unemployment benefits by 3 months in the fourth quarter of 2020 for unemployed who are not allowed to receive the full amount of the unemployment benefits
Support to companies	
1. Tax payment deferrals	The payment of corporate taxes was deferred to the end of June 2020 (Estimated effect: 0.5% of 2020 GDP)
2. Reduction of the rate of the value-added tax (VAT)	The VAT rate for restaurants, food delivery, baby food, books, bus transport, tourism agencies and tour operators, ski resorts, gyms and sports facilities was temporary cut from 20% to 9% (until end of 2021) Revenue forgone: 0.3 %f GDP, spread over 2020 and 2021

continued

3. Grants	Projects support for micro enterprises and SMEs		
	Amount: up to BGN 150 000 for large companies that recorded		
	at least 20% drop of turnover		
4. Loan guarantees	Providing loan guarantees to banks, channelling loans		
	SMEs for working capital, refinancing liabilities, etc. (total		
	guarantees up to BGN 3.6 million of loans)		
	80% guarantee to loans with reduced collaterals to firms		
	affected by the crisis (total guarantees up to BGN 2 bn worth		
	of loans); Deadline for application: mid-June 2021		
5. Tourism sector assistance	Providing subsidies for bus carriers, tour operators, travel		
	agencies (Fiscal impact: 0.05% of 2020)		
	Granting vouchers to people involved in COVID-19 response		
	for domestic tourism (Fiscal cost: 0.01% of GDP for 2020)		

Source: Author's adaptation of the information provided by the Bulgarian authorities and published by the IMF (2021b)

The largest of these measures, the so-called "60/40" program, protected around 260 thousand jobs by the end of 2020 alone. In fact, the figure would be true if jobs had to be maintained for 3 months, in line with the duration of the aid. However, as they have to be maintained throughout the year, the calculation has to look different. According to the National Social Security Institute of Bulgaria (NSSI), a total of almost 1.003 million jobs were supported over a 10-month period from the start of the epidemic to the end of 2020. This means that on average the state has helped maintain an average of 100.3 thousand jobs per month and this is the amount of reserved jobs. The total amount of funds allocated for this purpose was BGN 648.7 million (EUR 331.7 million)⁹. Since the beginning of 2021, over BGN 290 million (EUR 148.3 million) have been paid under the measures for maintaining employment (NSSI, 2021). Thus, the total amount is approaching BGN 1 billion (EUR 511.3 million).

The European Commission (2021b, p.100) highlights that the Bulgarian government's job retention schemes "have played a significant role by supporting more than 278 thousand employees across nearly 12.4 thousand companies. The largest share of the support went to the manufacturing sector, followed by the hospitality sector, which was the worst affected".

Since the start of the measure, the largest amount was paid to the employees of the enterprises in the manufacturing – over BGN 397.8 million (EUR 203.4 million), to

⁹ The Bulgarian currency – the Bulgarian lev (BGN) – is pegged to the euro with a fixed exchange rate of 1.95583 BGN for 1 EUR since the 1st of July 1997.

preserve about 117.1 thousand jobs. Hotels and restaurants were supported by about BGN 126.4 million (EUR 64.6 million) for 54 thousand jobs. BGN 107 million (EUR 54.7 million) for over 33.9 thousand workers and employees were directed to the employers from the retail sector, the enterprises from the mining and quarrying industry received BGN 75 million (EUR 3.83 million) for 9 thousand reserved jobs, and the transportation and storage sector – BGN 82 million (EUR 42 million) for nearly 26.8 thousand employees, as the NSSI (2021) data show.

The MF (2021b) estimates that the so-called "60/40" measure for maintaining employment has a budget impact of 0.84% of GDP for 2020 and 0.24% of GDP for 2021.

Given the average number of retained jobs on the labour market as a consequence of the implementation of the scheme, overall, one could assume what could be the potential unemployment in Bulgaria without those measures. Figure 19 plots the assumptions for the actual and estimated number of unemployed persons in Bulgaria without the measures.





Source: Eurostat, own estimates

Authors' estimates show that at the end of March 2021, the number of unemployed Bulgarians would have been 279 thousand without the measures and even 306 thousand in May 2020, when a peak would have been reached. It is obvious that the number of unemployed would be higher without the measures, but that would bring the number of unemployed to the levels of 2015, at least.

On the other hand, the unemployment level would have skyrocketed to 9.2-9.5% in the second quarter of 2020, again at the levels last observed in the summer of 2015. For example, the actual increase of the unemployment level in Bulgaria is up to 5.9% at the end of Q2 2020 from 4.2% at the end of Q3 2020. At the end of March 2021, the estimated level of unemployment would have been 8.4%, compared to the actual 5.1%. The estimates and numbers, discussed above, provide a measurement of the outcome as part of the process tracing as regards to the amount of government expenditures, related to job retention schemes in Bulgaria, in terms of the observations of labour policy reaction after COVID-19 as dependent variable and in comparison with the Netherlands.

According to the IMF (2021b), although the initially slow implementation of the support measures has picked up in the course of 2020, their design could be further improved and their allocation could be accelerated. The term of the employment retention measure, known as "60/40", will be extended until the end of July 2021 at least, and up to the recent moment, no new measures are foreseen by the Bulgarian authorities, nor are new proposals for changes in the design placed.

In response to the COVID-19 crisis, in the first months of 2020 the Dutch government deployed a range of emergency financial schemes for supporting SMEs, major companies, employers, employees and self-employed people, with the main aim to protect jobs and incomes and to keep the economy running smoothly. The two introduced temporary schemes are the "*Temporary emergency scheme for job retention*" (*NOW*) and the "*Temporary self-employment income support and loan scheme*" (*TOZO*).

Employers who suffer a significant revenue loss as a result of the crisis posed by the coronavirus could claim a wage compensation for their employees, according to the information and described eligibility criteria for the "NOW: Temporary Emergency Bridging Measure for Sustained Employment" (in Dutch: "Tijdelijke Noodmaatregel Overbrugging voor Werkbehoud NOW"), published by Business.gov.nl (2021a).

Sullivan and Wolff (2021) emphasize that the NOW scheme was intended more as direct compensation and outline some drawbacks regarding the terms and eligibility criteria in the first design of the measure.

The "*Temporary bridging measure for self-employed professionals*" (*TOZO*) offers assistance for self-employed persons, facing financial difficulties because of the pandemic, as mentioned on the Business.gov.nl (2021b) web page. The measure includes income support and business loans, based on certain criteria.

By the "Financial Assistance to SMEs for Fixed Expenses" (in Dutch: "Tegemoetkoming Vaste Lasten MKB, TVL") Dutch SMEs and non-SMEs could cover their fixed costs. According to description, provided by Schaufeli (2021), dependent on the sector, the size of the corporation, the volume of fixed costs and the decrease in revenue, they could receive a maximum compensation up to EUR 550 thousand for SMEs and EUR 600 thousand for non-SMEs. At the end of Q4 2020, more than 90 thousand self-employed individuals and entrepreneurs and have applied for TVL. The granted support exceeds EUR 1.1 billion. Schaufeli (2021) clarifies that entrepreneurs, like representatives of the transport and supply sectors, indirectly affected by the pandemic, are now eligible to apply for compensation via the scheme.

At the beginning of 2021, the Dutch government substantially expanded its support and recovery package, after the previous extension in the autumn of 2020, due to an upsurge in infections and the immersion of the pandemic. Additional expenditure on the package will amount to EUR 7.6 billion over the first and second quarters of 2021.

The EC (2021b, p.86) points out that "as the emergency support package [in the Netherlands] is assumed to fade out together with the easing of containment measures, from the second half of this year bankruptcies are expected to gradually increase in combination with necessary restructurings, especially concentrated in the labour intensive, long-affected sectors (e.g., hospitality, retail trade and transport)". Back in May 2020, Business Survey Netherlands claimed "roughly half of the private sector may not survive COVID-19" (Statistics Netherlands, 2021d).

Meanwhile, the IMF (2021d) underscores the effectiveness of the schemes in reducing the unemployment rate and bankruptcies. The IMF (2021d) also describes the extension of the supportive measures towards mid-2021 as an appropriate decision considering the

circumstances. Furthermore, the timely announcement for the continuation of the support has had a positive effect on households and business as it was reduced the feeling uncertainty.

Figure 20 represents top 10 COVID-19-related support schemes in terms of expenditures. According to the calculations, based on the Netherlands Court of Audit (2021) data, the total amount of the ten biggest supportive measures exceeds EUR 47 billion on average for both 2020 and 2021.

The amount for 2020 is EUR 21.78 billion, which represents approximately 2.7% of the Dutch GDP. As for 2021, the figure is EUR 25.24 billion. The costs related to the support are forecasted to amount to 4.5% (EUR 37.3 billion) of Netherlands's GDP for 2021, according to data published by the IMF (2021a) as of March 2021.

As Figure 20 shows, the different phases of NOW represent the biggest amount of expenditure for 2020 and 2021.



Figure 20. Top 10 COVID-19-related support schemes by targeted expenditures

Source: Own representation, based on the Netherlands Court of Audit (2021) data

While grants (such as under the NOW job retention scheme) and income transfers (such as under the TOZO scheme for self-employed professionals) are the main tools used for providing support during the coronavirus crisis, the Dutch government has also made use of guarantees and loans, at an aggregate value of EUR 64.9 billion, according to the Autumn Memorandum (2020), regarding the budget revenues and expenditures.

Sullivan and Wolff (2021) argue that beyond the economic reasoning, the presence of political dynamics play an important role in the formulation and justification of the support schemes. Indeed, the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic required decisions on many political levels, which, coupled with tight deadlines and public expectations, could lead to questionable outcomes, if not communicated well.

At the end of December 2020, more than 573 thousand businesses, at the equivalent to 31% of the total number of businesses in the Netherlands, have made use of the various support measures, the Statistics Netherlands (2021c) data shows. According to the OECD (2020) data¹⁰, referring to the end of May 2020, in the Netherlands 28% of workers effectively benefited from job retention schemes, or 2.1 million people in total, calculated on the basis of actual participants in job retention schemes as a share of dependent employees.

The estimates and numbers, discussed above, provide an outcome measurement as part of the process tracing as regards to the amount of government expenditures, related to job retention schemes in the Netherlands, in terms of the observations of labour policy reaction after COVID-19 as dependent variable and in comparison with Bulgaria.

On other hand, the coronavirus crisis has posed huge challenges to the public finances of Bulgaria and of the Netherlands, according to the Statistics Netherlands (2021c) and the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria (2021a) data. The challenges in front of the fiscal policy (public spending and debt management), as part of the institutional factors as an independent variable, have increased due to COVID-19.

In 2020, the Dutch government gross debt increased by EUR 40 billion to EUR 435 billion (54.5% of GDP from 48.7% of GDP in 2019). Government spending was EUR

¹⁰ Bulgaria is not yet member of the OECD. The country expressed its willingness to join, expecting resolution of the request.

44 billion higher than 2019 and revenues were by EUR 4 billion lower. The increase in expenditures in the Netherlands was mostly influenced by aids to institutions and companies, primarily as a result of the temporary emergency scheme for job retention (NOW). Nevertheless, the IMF (2021d) assessment states that the Dutch authorities have the ability to show the required support if no fiscal turbulences appear as a result of the recession or expenses associated to the support programs.

For comparison, the data of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria (2021a) shows that as of the end of 2020 the balance of the state budget on a cash basis by the Consolidated Fiscal Programme (CFP) was at the negative amount of BGN 3.532 billion (EUR 1.8 billion, 3% of the GDP). Compared to 2019, the budget revenues rose by BGN 260.2 million (EUR 133 million) to BGN 44.3 billion (EUR 22.65 billion), despite the negative impact of the pandemic on the macroeconomic perspectives.

The expenditures under the CFP were at the amount of BGN 47.84 billion (EUR 24.46 billion) for 2020, which was by BGN 2.6 billion (EUR 1.33 billion) higher in comparison with 2019. The higher expenditure is mainly related to the social and economic measures taken to minimise the implications of the crisis, including payments under the "60/40" measure, payments to all those that stand in the frontlines fighting the pandemic, including the expenditures on purchasing medicines and vaccines, payment of a monthly allowance of BGN 50 (EUR 25.6) to the pensions of all pensioners for the August-December 2020 period, payments to businesses and farmers, as well as other expenditures under the approved measures. The MF (2021b) estimates show that temporary budget measures, approved in 2020, have an average budget impact of 2.26% of GDP for 2020 and 2.07% of GDP for 2021.

At the end of 2020, the debt-to-GDP ratio of Bulgaria increased from 20.2% to 25% in 2019. Despite that increase, Bulgaria remained with the second lowest debt-to-GDP ratio in the EU in 2020, according to the Eurostat data, used to plot Figure 21.



Figure 21. Debt-to-GDP ratio in the Netherlands, Bulgaria, EU and euro area (annual data) (%)

Source: Eurostat

In its European Semester Spring Package, the EC (2021f) puts the Netherlands with other 11 EU Member States in group of countries with macroeconomic imbalances, while ranks Bulgaria among the three countries (together with Sweden and Denmark) that meet the deficit criterion set by the Stability and Growth Pact (2021g). According to the forecast of the EC, Bulgaria's deficit will be 3.2% of GDP in 2021 and would decrease to 1.9% of GDP by the end of 2022.

As regards to the general government gross debt, it has increased in all Member States. In 14 Member States, the debt ratio has overshot the 60% of GDP reference value under the Stability and Growth Pact (2021g). With its expected level of general government debt of 24.5% of GDP for 2021, Bulgaria will remain second among the Member States with the lowest values of the indicator in the EU after Estonia (21.3% debt-to-GDP).

The challenges in front of the public finances, which saw an acceleration of spending and debt accumulation not only due to the newly established job retention schemes, are further exacerbated by the restrictions set by the Stability and Growth Pact, viewed in the vein of institutional factors as independent variable. Given those observations, an inference could be made about the proposition that COVID-19, as independent variable, influenced labour policy through the introduction of job supporting schemes, with the main aim at preserving jobs. The prompt response by the Bulgarian and Dutch governments through the introduced job retention measures shaped the labour policy during COVID-19, evidencing for the reinforcement of those factors. The introduction of STW programmes and schemes in the EU reached record levels during the COVID-19 crisis, albeit the initial slow take-up, mostly in Bulgaria, rather than in the Netherlands.

In this context, the outcome could be evaluated and supported by numbers, allowing making conclusions. The fiscal support related to applied measures is budgeted to amount at 2.5% of the Bulgarian GDP and 4.5% of the GDP of the Netherlands in 2021. The Bulgarian government's job retention schemes supported more than 278 thousand employees across nearly 12.4 thousand companies, while more than 573 thousand businesses, at the equivalent to 31% of the total number of businesses in the Netherlands, have made use of the various support measures. Despite the pandemic and in spite the initial reprise of unemployment, because of government interventions, the deterioration of unemployment was contained.

4.3. Institutional factors and the role of the EU

The third point of Chapter IV includes discussion about the institutional factors as an independent variable. Its subcategories include investments and stimulating schemes aimed at preserving jobs and ensuring that economies have sufficient financial aid for reforms and sustainable development, along with the perceived public expenditures in the context of fiscal and monetary policy, already in place. The role of the EU as an intervening variable links the institutional factors and labour policy by providing support to the Member States, which could be in different nature in terms of country-specific needs.

After the unprecedented shock of the GFC the policy reaction was perceived as a bit too late and too little. In contrast, the response to the unexpected health, social and economic crisis, posed by the coronavirus, could be described as *"firm, substantial and quick"*

(EBF, 2020). The EU institutions have successfully developed a coordinated action plan, relying on different policy approaches from the Policy Toolbox. Thus, leveraging from the bitter experience from the GFC, learning from the previous outcome and relying on prior knowledge regarding actions to be taken.

On the side of the monetary policy, as part of the subcategories of institutional factors as independent variable, in March 2020, the ECB (2020a) introduced a comprehensive package of measures including additional "*Long-term refinancing operations*" (*LTROs*) with the aim of providing liquidity at favourable terms. The "*Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme*" (*PEPP*) was initiated and in June 2020 its volume was lifted by EUR 600 billion totalling to EUR 1.35 trillion. The interest rates were already very low, near or below zero, more than 10 years.

On the side of the regulatory policy, lawmakers have agreed on a quick fix of several regulations and directives in a record time. For example, the ECB (2020b) supervisory flexibility measures, the loan moratoria scheme designed by the European Banking Authority (EBA) managed to provide the European banking sector with a substantial relief to keep the level of lending for households and non-financial corporations, which, on the other, hand got a breather due to the temporary postponement of loan instalments.

The Council of the European Union (2021) lists 10 EU priorities for fighting COVID-19 and ensuring a resilient recovery. In the context of the role of the EU as intervening variable, those priorities include, among others:

1. Providing support to the EU's recovery – fiscal, by the Next Generation EU and the long-term budget of the EU for 2021-2027, and monetary, conducted by the ECB;

2. Coordinating travel measures – to safeguard freedom of movement on the continent despite the COVID-19 pandemic by establishing a common framework;

3. Slowing the spread of the virus as EU Member States introduce temporary restrictions on travel, deemed as non-essential;

4. Ensuring effective and safe COVID-19 vaccines, four of which gained authorisation in the EU and vaccination started on the 27th of December 2020 across the EU. In total, 2.6 billion doses of vaccines have been secured;

5. Supporting EU health systems – by coordination of crisis management between EU institutions and Member States during the pandemic;

6. Protecting jobs through the SURE instrument;

7. Providing help to the EU Member States to finance their COVID-19 response – by the Coronavirus Response Investment Initiative, channelling approximately EUR 37 billion from the European structural funds to member countries;

8. Boosting European solidarity – among the exchanges of medical staff and joint efforts in the health care sector, the EU approved new rules, by which EU countries could tap the EU Solidarity Fund for financial assistance to be used for covering health emergencies. Up to EUR 800 million were made available for EU Member States in 2020 to combat the coronavirus pandemic, with the recent broadened scope of the fund;

9. Supporting the most hit economic sectors – to protect our food supply chain and avoid food shortages;

10. A partnership to support EU's partners around the globe – as an example, the EU leaders discussed the EU's contribution to the global reaction to the pandemic during the special meeting of the European Council on 24-25 May 2021. EU member states reaffirmed their support to countries in need and are committed to donate at least 100 million doses of COVID-19 vaccines before the end of 2021.

On the fiscal policy side, as part of the subcategory mix of institutional factors as independent variable, among the measures to support the health care sector and the labour marker, the EC drafted a detailed recovery plan for Europe, with a new recovery instrument of EUR 750 billion, financed by bond placements on the financial markets (EC, 2021a). Furthermore, each EU Member State provided its own fiscal policy support for the most vulnerable sectors, adding to the backing received from the EU.

The EU proposed substantial financial help to the Member States to support the mitigation of the health, socio-economic impact of the crisis and promote the future recovery, highlighting the link that the role of the EU as intervening variable plays, regarding the outlined process tracing steps and logic in Figure 1 and in point 3.2. of Chapter III. Those instruments include the temporary instrument "Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency" (SURE), the "Emergency Support Instrument" and the "Recovery and Resilience Facility", which is the backbone of "Next Generation EU". Along with the provided relief in terms of flexible use of the cohesion policy funds under the "Coronavirus Response Investment Initiative", these tools would support job

retention and creation, incentivise investments and lead to a more sustainable economic recovery, even in terms of the new digital and green transition reality.

After tough negotiations in the hardest months of COVID-19 pandemic in the course of 2020, a total of EUR 1.8 trillion were aimed at restarting the economic recovery and rebuilding a post-COVID-19 Europe, according to the envelope of the long-term budget of the EU for 2021 to 2027 of EUR 1.074 trillion, coupled with the Next Generation EU temporary instrument at the amount of EUR 750 billion (EC, 2021a).

Table 3 provides a summary of the *"Multiannual Financial Framework of the EU"* for the 2021-2027 period.

	MMF	Next Generation EU	TOTAL
1. Single market, innovation and digital	€132.8 billion	€10.6 billion	€143.4 billion
2. Cohesion, resilience and values	€377.8 billion	€721.9 billion	€1 099.7 billion
3. Natural resources and environment	€356.4 billion	€17.5 billion	€373.9 billion
4. Migration and border management	€22.7 billion	-	€22.7 billion
5. Security and defence	€13.2 billion	-	€13.2 billion
6. Neighbourhood and the world	€98.4 billion	-	€98.4 billion
7. European public administration	€73.1 billion	-	€73.1 billion
TOTAL MMF	€1 074.3 billion	€750 billion	€1 824.3 billion

Table 3. Multiannual Financial Framework 2021-2027 total allocations

Source: European Commission

Table 4 represents the Next Generation EU breakdown by facilities, whilst Table 5 provides more details for the allocations of the *"Just Transition Fund"* per Member State.

Table 4. N	ext Generation	1 EU brea	kdown
------------	----------------	-----------	-------

Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF)	€672.5 billion
of which, loans	€360 billion
of which, grants	\notin 312.5 billion
ReactEU	€47.5 billion
Horizon Europe	€5 billion
InvestEU	€5.6 billion
Rural Development	€7.5 billion
Just Transition Funds (JTF)	€10 billion
RescEU	€1.9 billion
TOTAL	€750 billion

Source: Conclusions of the European Council of 21 July 2020

	Under NextGenerationEU	Under MFF 2021-2027	Total	Share
🛑 Belgium	95	71	166	0.9%
🛑 Bulgaria	673	505	1,178	6.7%
🦢 Czechia	853	640	1,493	8.5%
🛟 Denmark	46	35	81	0.5%
ermany Germany	1,288	966	2,254	12.9%
🗕 Estonia	184	138	322	1.8%
🌔 Ireland	44	33	77	0.4%
🔄 Greece	431	324	755	4.3%
😑 Spain	452	339	790	4.5%
France	535	402	937	5.4%
📀 Croatia	97	72	169	1.0%
() Italy	535	401	937	5.4%
🤝 Cyprus	53	39	92	0.5%
🖨 Latvia	100	75	174	1.0%
🛑 Lithuania	142	107	249	1.4%
🛑 Luxemburg	5	4	8	0.0%
🛑 Hungary	136	102	237	1.4%
🌗 Malta	12	9	21	0.1%
Netherlands	324	243	567	3.2%
🔷 Austria	71	53	124	0.7%
- Poland	2,000	1,500	3,500	20.0%
🧿 Portugal	116	87	204	1.2%
🌔 Romania	1,112	834	1,947	11.1%
🍅 Slovenia	134	101	235	1.3%
🙂 Slovakia	239	179	418	2.4%
+ Finland	242	182	424	2.4%
🖶 Sweden	81	61	142	0.8%
🛞 EU 27	10,000	7,500	17,500	100.0%

Table 5. Just Transition Fund – allocations per Member State (EUR million)

Source: European Commission

The "Just Transition Fund" (JTF) was proposed in early 2020 by the EC, as part of the so-called "European Green Deal", which would be a cornerstone in the role of the EU in the recovery phase of the economy after the coronavirus subsides. The aim of JTF is to provide support to those European regions, which could be the most negatively affected by the transition course to a low carbon economy. The EU targets a decrease of greenhouse gas emissions by at least 55% by the end of 2030 and by 2050 to achieve climate neutrality. The JTF is designed to help Member States in the management of the social and economic transformation of those regions, highly dependent on high-emission industries and fossil fuels. The proposed JTF budget at the amount of EUR 17.5 billion could be complemented with national co-financing and resources from cohesion policy funds. According to the EC data, the share of Bulgaria in the JTF is estimated at 6.7%, while the share of the Netherlands would be 3.2%.

In the context of jobs recovery from the pandemic caused by the coronavirus spread and the link with the role of the EU as intervening variable, SURE could provide each EU Member State with loans up to EUR 100 billion to address unexpected rise in public expenditure for employment protection. So far, the Council has approved a financial support totalling EUR 89.6 billion to 19 Member States, according to the EC data (2021d).

With the latest disbursement from the 25th of May 2021 Bulgaria received its funds from the facility at the amount of EUR 511 million. Thus, Bulgaria could direct the funds to short-term employment schemes and other measures, for example, aimed at the self-employed. It is expected that between 4,500 and 5,000 employers will be supported to retain about 140 thousand employees. On an EU level SURE, financed by the capital markets, provided support for 2.5 million companies and over 30 million Europeans. Table 6 presents an overview of proposed and distributed amounts per Member State.

The Netherlands, for example, is not present and one of the reasons could be that the negotiations on the emergency measures back in June 2020 ignited a disagreement from the notorious "frugal four" countries (Denmark, Austria, Sweden, the Netherlands) and Finland regarding the funding and allocation of the funds (Fernández, 2021, p.3). As Fernández (2021, p.3) points out, disagreeing Member States also "opposed the idea of

supporting a transfer of money from wealthier Member States to the most affected ones in southern Europe", especially by grants. Nevertheless, this underlines the specifics of the EU's role as intervening variable regarding different needs of its Member States.

Country	Proposed loan amount	Disbursed	
Belgium	8.197 billion	8.197 billion	
Bulgaria	511 million	511 million	
Croatia	1.02 billion	1.02 billion	
Cyprus Cyprus	604 million	604 million	
Czechia	2 billion	2 billion	
Estonia	230 million	230 million	
Greece	5.265 billion	5.265 billion	
Hungary	504 million	504 million	
Ireland	2.5 billion	2.5 billion	
Italy	27.438 billion	27.438 billion	
Latvia	305 million	305 million	
Lithuania	957 million	957 million	
Malta	420 million	420 million	
Poland	11.236 billion	8.236 billion	
Portugal	5.934 billion	5.41 billion	
Romania	4.099 billion	3 billion	
🏜 Slovakia	630 million	630 million	
Slovenia	1.113 billion	1.113 billion	
Spain	21.324 billion	21.324 billion	
Total	94.3 billion	89.6 billion	

 Table 6. Proposed and disbursed loan amounts from the temporary Support to mitigate

 Unemployment Risks in an Emergency (SURE) per Member State (in alphabetical order)

Source: European Commission

Furthermore, on the 28th of January 2021, the European Commission (2021e) declared that the length of the State aid Temporary Framework, adopted on the 19th of March 2020 to support the economy in the framework of the COVID-19 pandemic, will be extended until the 31st of December 2021. The EC has also ruled to extend the scope of the Temporary Framework by rising the set out ceilings. The Commission will also allow EU members to convert repayable instruments (e.g., repayable advances, guarantees and

loans) until the 31st of December 2022. This is granted under the Temporary Framework into other forms of financial support, such as direct grants, conditional on the meeting of requirements of the Temporary Framework.

For example, among other programmes and state aid measures, the Bulgarian Development Bank's programme for loans with zero interest rate loans for selfemployed, affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, and individuals on unpaid leave, falls under the Temporary Framework. The programme is being executed through the banks in Bulgaria (Bulgarian Development Bank, 2020). The early indications are that the programme could be extended by the end of 2021, based on the prolongation of the Temporary Framework.

One important decision to be taken by the EC is related to the rules of the Stability and Growth Pact, as a subcategory of institutional factors as independent variable, determining budget and debt discipline thresholds, which imply 3% budget deficit and 60% debt-to-GDP ratio. As the main aim is to give time to the European economy to fully recover and get back to the pre-crisis levels as soon as possible, the EC might prolong the suspension of the rules until 2022. This kind of decision could influence the link between the role of the EU as intervening variable and the institutional factors as independent variable.

Apart from the role of the EU, but with relevance to the institutional factors, one other fact deserves to be noted, that neither the Netherlands, nor Bulgaria, not even one single EU Member State accessed the financial assistance and debt service relief, provided by the IMF to EU states experiencing the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (IMF, 2021c). Overall, the IMF is making around USD 250 billion of its total lending capacity of USD 1 trillion available to countries, members of the IMF.

Given the facts and the observations, an inference could be made about the proposition that the EU, as intervening variable between the institutional factors as an independent variable and labour policy as dependent variable after COVID-19, plays an important role in terms of providing funding. The aspects by which the two Member States – Bulgaria and the Netherlands, could take advantage of different investment and financial programs aimed to support the economic recovery after COVID-19 differ. While the EU schemes tend to lead to an increase of government spending, their aim is to support
economy and jobs. On the other hand, the rules of the Stability and Growth Pact should be adhered to, albeit posing challenges to public finances.

V. CONCLUSION

The COVID-19 pandemic will stand out in history as an example of a crisis, which challenged the ability of EU Member States to coordinate on both national and international level, fighting to preserve both the health and well-being of its citizens as well as to shield its economy. The high level of alert and previous experience from economic (like the GFC) and health (such as SARS, Avian flu, and the Spanish Influenza) crises, allowed the EU and its Member States to introduce firm and well-planned policy measures in attempt to minimise the negative effects of COVID-19.

The coronavirus pandemic continues even in the time of writing of the thesis, thus assessing its effects on the unemployment and government policy response in the Netherlands and Bulgaria in the most recent moment. Although this might be viewed as a limitation in a certain degree, it could be also viewed in the vein of master thesis' strengths, because of the actuality of the topic.

In general, this thesis attempted to present a comprehensive comparative case study, based on process tracing as a method, on the COVID-19 effects on the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria, with an accent on the applied economic policies aimed at mitigating the severe effects of the pandemic and on the labour market.

The nature of the COVID-19 pandemic on the labour market and of the main characteristics of unemployment were clarified. The approaches of the Netherlands and Bulgaria to mitigate the severe COVID-19 effects on their labour markets were described.

Process tracing was used to conduct a comparative case study regarding the COVID-19 effects on the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and in Bulgaria and on the applied economic policies aimed at preserving jobs. The methodology was outlined in point 3.2. of Chapter III by the description of the steps of the following logic, as proposed by Beach and Pedersen (2019).

The causal conjunction was introduced (Figure 1) and applied to link the cause – COVID-19 – that triggers the process, researched in the thesis – labour policy and government intervention. The expected outcome was linked to the level of unemployment as regards to job retention schemes. Thus, the findings of the research

could be considered as consistent with the elements of the theoretical expectations model in Figure 1, which supports the internal validity of the study.

The observation of the cause, its influence on the outcomes, as underpinned by the empirical fingerprints in the analysis, and based on the evaluation of the collected evidence emphasize the proposition in the thesis, namely, that the COVID-19 pandemic affected the unemployment levels in the Netherlands and Bulgaria and the economic policies applied in those two countries aiming to mitigate the severe effects of the pandemic ultimately managed to preserve jobs.

As part of the findings, the research shows that at the end of March 2021, the number of unemployed in Bulgaria would have been 279 thousand without the measures, which could bring the number of unemployed to one of the highest levels, last observed in 2015. At the end of March 2021, the estimated level of unemployment in Bulgaria would have been 8.4%, compared to the actual 5.1%. More than 573 thousand businesses, at the equivalent to 31% of the total number of businesses in the Netherlands, have made use of the various support measures of the Dutch government. Despite the pandemic and in spite the initial reprise of unemployment, because of government interventions, the deterioration of unemployment in both countries was contained.

Discretionary fiscal support related to applied measures, which fall into the frames of the dependent variable, is budgeted to amount to 2.5% of the Bulgarian GDP and to 4.5% of the GDP of the Netherlands in 2021, describing the proportion of the provided reliefs.

As regards to the role of the EU, it could be expected that in the second half of 2021 the EU's unprecedented €1.8 trillion recovery fund Next Generation EU and multi-year budget would provide a solid boost to the battered economies. The two countries would make somewhat uneven use of the EU funds, given the role of Bulgaria as a beneficiary.

It is crucial that a gradual withdrawal of any kind of stimulus – monetary or fiscal, viewed in the vein of institutional factors as independent variable– would only be appropriate when coupled with resilient economic recovery. Anyway, the shape of the recovery phase could shape the current economic and political thought. For example, building on existing initiatives, Gita Gopinath and Ruchir Agarwal from the IMF (2021, p.2) propose *"pragmatic actions at the national and multilateral level to expeditiously defeat the pandemic"*. Their three key points include the fulfilment of key targets, as follows: *"(1)*

vaccinating at least 40% of the population in all countries by the end of 2021 and at least 60% by the first half of 2022, (2) tracking and insuring against downside risks, and (3) ensuring widespread testing and tracing, maintaining adequate stocks of therapeutics, and enforcing public health measures in places where vaccine coverage is low". As the IMF (2021, p.2) calculates, "the benefits of such measures at about USD 9 trillion far outweigh the costs which are estimated to be around USD 50 billion".

At this point, questions regarding the concrete shape of the recovery phase and the assessment of each country about the effectiveness of the various support measures could be raised. Furthermore, challenges in terms of fiscal policy and additional reforms remain in sight. The recovery phase could provide an opportunity for both countries – Bulgaria and the Netherlands – to foster a greener and more sustainable economies, for example, by increasing the efforts to reach their ambitious emissions reduction goals, as part of the EU's effort for investments in a collective recovery and providing support for workers, companies and countries. Nevertheless, much needed reforms in Bulgaria would also have to be accomplished, given the country's willingness to become one of the newest euro area members.

A key question about the implementation of the plan of Bulgaria in terms of the Recovery and Resilience Facility, in particular, would be related to the precise timeline of the arrangement of the projects and activities included in the plan. The answer of that question should be based on the possibility of motivating and accelerating various structural reforms that support the long-term expansion of the economy's potential, including in the field of human capital development, the efficient functioning of public investment and capital formation. The mechanism allows covering public expenditures in the Member States until the end of August 2026, the implementation to start by the end of 2023 at the latest, and at least 70% of the funds to be agreed by the end of 2022.

Concrete proposals and recommendations to the institutions dealing with the challenges related to unemployment could be formulated. The ongoing supportive measures have to be carefully evaluated in terms of effectiveness and changes should be made, if deemed necessary. Two very important questions also should receive answers -(1) are the supportive measures still needed? (2) How long they will be applied? Since the measures are related with budget expenses, they should not become a burden for the taxpayers and

should not weight further on the governments' debt load, which has already increased due to COVID-19. Policymakers should focus on the direction of possible future labour market developments in terms of the prospects for post COVID-19 economic recovery, aiming at building of a resilient and sustainable economic and labour market environment. All in all, an essential investment for future generations could be the successful reconstruction of a labour market, emerging from the crisis better and more resilient.

As regards to the possible limitations, the scope of the research is limited to the time of writing, which is May 2021, while the coronavirus is still unfolding, on the back of acceleration of the manufacturing, distribution and administering of vaccines. The complete effects from the coronavirus on economy and jobs are yet to be explored as new evidence and data are coming in almost every day. The data constraint and the exclusion of some variables, as discussed in point 3.4., pose another challenge regarding the full scope of the research. On the other hand, the summary of the data in 6 tables and the data visualisation in 21 figures, providing the opportunity to view and interpret the situation, posed by COVID-19, in different angles and perspectives, could be viewed as one of the strengths of the study.

The future research can be conducted in several directions. The effects on the labour market after COVID-19 fades out and the economies get back on solid upward trend could serve as a topic for possible future research. The quantitative analysis done by the comparative case study could be developed and expanded into a comprehensive quantitative research. Exploring the role of the welfare state in terms of political policy and reactions post-COVID-19 could be also pursued.

REFERENCES

- American Economic Association (n.d). JEL Classification Codes Guide [online] Available at: <u>https://www.aeaweb.org/jel/guide/jel.php?class=M</u> [Accessed June 2021]
- Anderton, R., Botelho, V., Consolo, A., Dias da Silva, A., Foroni, C., Mohr, M., and Vivian, L. (2020). *The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the euro area labour market*, ECB Economic Bulletin, Issue 8/2020, European Central Bank, Frankfurt am Main [online] Available at: https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economic-bulletin/articles/2021/html/ecb.ebart202008_02~bc749d90e7.en.html [Accessed May 2021]
- Barro, R.J., Ursúa, J.F. (2008) Macroeconomic crises since 1870. Brook. Papers Econ. Act. 39, 255-350
- Barro, R. J., Ursúa, J. F., & Weng, J. (2020). The coronavirus and the great influenza pandemic: Lessons from the "Spanish flu" for the coronavirus's potential effects on mortality and economic activity, NBER Working Papers 26866, National Bureau of Economic Research
- Beach, D., and Pedersen, R. (2013). *Process-Tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press
- Beach, D., and Pedersen, R. (2019). Process-Tracing Methods. Foundations and Guidelines. 2nd Edition, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press
- Bell, C., and Lewis, M. (2004). *The economic implications of epidemics old and new*. World Econ. 5(4), 137–174
- Blofield, M., Hoffmann, B., & Llanos, M. (2020). Assessing the Political and Social Impact of the COVID-19 Crisis in Latin America (GIGA Focus Lateinamerika, 3). Hamburg: GIGA German Institute of Global and Area Studies - Leibniz-Institut für Globale und Regionale Studien, Institut für Lateinamerika-Studien https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-67260-7
- Buendía, L., Gómez Serrano, P. J., & Molero-Simarro, R. (2020). Gone with the Crisis? Welfare State Change in Europe Before and Since the 2008 Crisis. *Social*

Indicators Research, 150(1), 243–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-020-</u> 02286-y

- Bulgarian Development Bank (2020). Interest-free loans for individuals on unpaid leave and self-employed [online] Available at: <u>https://bbr.bg/en/Products-and-</u> services-bbr/products-bbr/financial-support-victims-covid-19-bbr/Interest-freeloans-for-individuals-on-unpaid-leave-and-self-employed-bbr/ [Accessed May 2021]
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015). *How the Government Measures Unemployment*, U.S. Department of Labor, October 8, 2015 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bls.gov/cps/cps_htgm.htm</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020). Unemployment rate rises to record high 14.7 percent in April 2020, U.S. Department of Labor, May 13, 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2020/unemployment-rate-rises-to-record-high-</u> <u>14-point-7-percent-in-april-2020.htm?view_full</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021a). Effects of COVID-19 Pandemic on the Employment Situation News Release and Data, U.S. Department of Labor [online] Available
 at: <u>https://www.bls.gov/covid19/effects-of-covid-19-pandemic-and-response-on-the-employment-situation-news-release.htm</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021b). *Employment Situation News Release April 2021*, USDL-21-0816, U.S. Department of Labor, May 7, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bls.gov/news.release/archives/empsit_05072021.htm</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Burns, A., Van der Mensbrugghe, D., & Timmer, H. (2006). Evaluating the economic consequences of avian influenza, World Bank, Washington, DC [online] Available at: <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/977141468158986545/pdf/4741</u> <u>70WP0Evalu101PUBLIC10Box334133B.pdf</u>[Accessed June 2021]
- Business.gov.nl (2021a). Corona crisis: temporary emergency bridging measure NOW, Information by Netherlands Enterprise Agency, RVO [online] Available at: <u>https://business.gov.nl/subsidy/corona-crisis-temporary-emergency-measure-now/#article-what-is-now-</u> [Accessed April 2021]

- Business.gov.nl (2021b). *Temporary bridging measure for self-employed professionals* (*Tozo*), Information by Netherlands Enterprise Agency, RVO [online] Available at: <u>https://business.gov.nl/subsidy/temporary-bridging-measure-self-employed-professionals-tozo/</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- Casey, B. H., & Gold, M. (2005). Peer review of labour market programmes in the European Union: what can countries really learn from one another? *Journal of European Public Policy*, 12(1), 23–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350176042000311899
- Castles, F. (2010). Black swans and elephants on the move: the impact of emergencies on the welfare state. *Journal of European Social Policy 2010 20: 91*. DOI: 10.1177/0958928709358793
- Ceylan, R. F., Ozkan, B., & Mulazimogullari, E. (2020). Historical evidence for economic effects of COVID-19. *The European Journal of Health Economics*, 21(6), 817–823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-020-01206-8</u>
- Chang, Ching-Cheng, Lee, Duu-Hwa, Lin, Hsin-Chun, & Hsu, Shih-Shun. (2007). The Potential Economic Impact of Avian Flu Pandemic on Taiwan
- Collier, D. (2011). Understanding Process Tracing, PS: Political Science and Politics, Vol. 44, No. 4 (October 2011), pp. 823-830. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096511001429
- Clark, G. (2016). Microbes and markets: was the Black Death an economic revolution? *Journal of demographic economics*, 82(2), 139-165.
- Bianco, Silvia & Bruno, Randolph & Signorelli, Marcello. (2014). The Joint Impact of Labour Policies and the "Great Recession" on Unemployment in Europe. *Economic Systems*. 39. 10.1016/j.ecosys.2014.06.002.
- European Banking Federation (2020). *Facts and Figures: Banking in Europe 2020, COVID-19 special chapter* [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ebf.eu/facts-and-figures/covid-19/</u> [Accessed June 2021]
- European Commission (2020). Labour market and wage developments in Europe -Annual review 2020, Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion, Brussels, Belgium, Publications Office of the European Union, December 2020 [online] Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=738&langId=en&pubId=8366&furt herPubs=yes [Accessed April 2021]

- European Commission (2021a). *Recovery plan for Europe*, Brussels, Belgium, November 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/recovery-plan-europe_en#financing-the-eu-</u> <u>long-term-budget-and-nextgenerationeu</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- European Commission (2021b). Spring 2021 Economic Forecast: Rolling up sleeves, Institutional paper 149, European Commission, Brussels, May 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-performance-and-forecasts/economic-forecasts/spring-2021-economic-forecasts en [Accessed May 2021]</u>
- European Commission (2021c). Joint Employment Report 2021, As adopted by the Council on 9 March 2021, Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion 1049, Brussels, Belgium, #JER2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=23156&langId=en</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- European Commission (2021d). The European instrument for temporary Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency (SURE), Brussels, Belgium [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economyeuro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordination/financial-assistance-eu/fundingmechanisms-and-facilities/sure_en</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- European Commission (2021e). State aid: Commission prolongs and further expands Temporary Framework to support economy in context of coronavirus outbreak, Brussels, Belgium, January 28, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_21_261</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- European Commission (2021f). European Semester Spring Package 2021: economic coordination, Brussels, Belgium, June 2, 2021 [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/spring-package-2021_en [Accessed June 2021]
- European Commission (2021g). *Stability and Growth Pact*, Brussels, Belgium [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-</u>

fiscal-policy-coordination/eu-economic-governance-monitoring-preventioncorrection/stability-and-growth-pact_en [Accessed May 2021]

- European Council of the European Union (2021). 10 things the EU is doing to fight COVID-19 and ensure recovery, Brussels, Belgium, [online] Available at: <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/coronavirus/10-things-against-</u> <u>covid-19/</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- European Central Bank (2020a). *Monetary policy decisions*, press release, March 12, 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ecb.mp200312~8d3aec3ff</u> 2.en.html [Accessed April 2021]

European Central Bank (2020b). *ECB Banking Supervision provides temporary capital and operational relief in reaction to coronavirus*, press release, March 12, 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ssm.pr200</u> 312~43351ac3ac.en.html [Accessed April 2021]

- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (2021). *Data on country response measures* to COVID-19 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/download-data-response-</u> <u>measures-covid-19</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- Eurostat (2021a). Euro area unemployment at 8.1% in March 2021, press release, 54/2021, 30 April 2021 [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563067/3-30042021-CP-EN.pdf/5e5aae01-e15d-b8bd-71fb-4096b88f4120?t=1619705933576 [Accessed April 2021]

Eurostat (2021b). GDP down by 0.6% and employment down by 0.3% in the euro area, press release, 58/2021, 18 May 2021 [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/11563087/2-18052021-AP-EN.pdf/c892ab6d-ecc0-8152-00aa-929e2e838db4?t=1621325416766 [Accessed May 2021]

Eurostat (2021c). Unemployment statistics: Statistics Explained, March 2021 [online]Availableat:https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php?title=Unemployment_statistics#Unemployment_in_the_E U_and_the_euro_area [Accessed March 2021]

- Eurostat (2021d). How usual is it to work from home?, 17 May 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-eurostat-news/-/edn-20210517-</u> <u>2?redirect=%2Feurostat%2F</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Fernández, J., E. (2021). A Critical Analysis on the European Union's Measures to Overcome the Economic Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic, European Papers, Vol. 5, 2020, No 3, pp.1399-1423 doi: 10.15166/2499-8249/437
- George, A. L., & Bennett, A. (2005). *Case studies and theory development in the social sciences.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Gopinath, G., and Agarwal, R. (2021). A Proposal to End the COVID-19 Pandemic, Staff
 Discussion Notes No. 2021/004, International Monetary Fund, Washington
 D.C., May 19, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/-</u>/media/Files/Publications/SDN/2021/English/SDNEA2021004.ashx [Accessed
 May 2021]
- Gordon, P., and Weber, A. (2021). Double-Dip Recession Beckons in Europe as Lockdowns Drag On, January 12, 2021, Bloomberg [online] Available at: <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-01-12/euro-area-heads-for-double-dip-recession-as-lockdowns-drag-on</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Government of the Netherlands (2021). Coronavirus: financial schemes for businesses and self-employed people [online] Available at: <u>https://www.government.nl/topics/coronavirus-covid-19/information-for-</u> <u>business-owners</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- Houston, D. (2020). Local resistance to rising unemployment in the context of the COVID-19 mitigation policies across Great Britain. *Regional Science Policy & Practice*, 12(6), 1189–1209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rsp3.12364</u>
- International Monetary Fund (2020). *World Economic Outlook, Chapter 1: The great lockdown*, April 2020, International Monetary Fund, Washington D.C. [online] Available at:

https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2020/04/14/weo-april-2020 [Accessed May 2021]

- International Monetary Fund (2021a). Policy Responses to COVID-19, Policy Tracker by Country, International Monetary Fund, Washington D.C. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-</u> COVID-19 [Accessed May 2021]
- International Monetary Fund (2021b). Bulgaria: 2020 Article IV Consultation Staff Report, Country Report No. 2021/027, International Monetary Fund, European Department, February 1, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/-/media/Files/Publications/CR/2021/English/1BGREA2021001.ashx</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- International Monetary Fund (2021c). *COVID-19 Financial Assistance and Debt Service Relief*, International Monetary Fund, Washington D.C., updated on May 6, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-and-</u> covid19/COVID-Lending-Tracker [Accessed May 2021]
- International Monetary Fund (2021d). *Kingdom of the Netherlands The Netherlands: Concluding Statement of an IMF Staff Visit*, December 17, 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2020/12/17/mcs121720-kingdom-of-the-netherlands-concluding-statement-of-an-imf-staff-visit</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- International Labour Organization (2020). International Labour Organisation Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Third edition. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---</u> <u>dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms 743146.pdf</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- International Labour Organization (2021). *Indicator description: Unemployment rate* [online] Available at: <u>https://ilostat.ilo.org/resources/concepts-and-definitions/description-unemployment-rate/</u>[Accessed March 2021]
- Investopedia (2021). *Black Swan*, by Investopedia Staff, reviewed by Gordon Scott, updated March 22, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/blackswan.asp</u> [Accessed June 2021]
- Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center (2021). COVID-19 Dashboard, Center for Systems Science and Engineering (CSSE) at Johns Hopkins University (JHU) [online] Available at: <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html</u> [Accessed May 2021]

- Mahoney, J. (2010). After KKV: The New Methodology of Qualitative Research. *World Politics* 62 (1): 120–47
- Mair, P. (1998). Comparative Politics: An Overview. A New Handbook of Political Science, 309–335. https://doi.org/10.1093/0198294719.003.0012
- McKee, M., Gugushvili, A., Koltai, J., & Stuckler, D. (2020). Are Populist Leaders Creating the Conditions for the Spread of COVID-19? Comment on "A Scoping Review of Populist Radical Right Parties' Influence on Welfare Policy and its Implications for Population Health in Europe". *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*. Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.34172/ijhpm.2020.124</u>
- Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria (2021a). Consolidated Fiscal Programme performance data as of 31.12.2020 are published, January 29, 2021 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.minfin.bg/en/news/1125</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Bulgaria (2021b). Convergence Programme of the Republic of Bulgaria 2021–2023, Sofia, April 2021 [online] available at: <u>https://www.minfin.bg/upload/47562/EN+Convergence+Programme+of+Bulg</u> <u>aria+2021-2023.pdf</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- National Employment Agency (2021). *Registered unemployment returned to pre-COVID-19 levels* [in Bulgarian] [online] Available at: <u>https://www.az.government.bg/bg/news/view/registriranata-bezrabotica-se-</u> <u>vyrna-na-nivata-otpredi-kovid-19-pandemijata-3619/</u> [Accessed May2021]
- National Statistical Institute (2021). *Labour Force Survey* [online] Available at: (<u>https://www.nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/metadata/LFS_Methodology_EN.p</u> <u>df</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- National Social Security Institute (2021). Over BGN 290 million have been paid under the measures for maintaining employment since the beginning of the year, the total amount is approaching BGN 1 billion [in Bulgarian] [online] Available at: <u>https://www.nssi.bg/newsbg/6357-60-40-2020</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Landman, T. (2013). Issues and Methods in Comparative Politics: An Introduction (3rd ed.). Routledge

- OECD (2020). OECD Employment Outlook 2020: Worker Security and the COVID-19 Crisis, OECD Publishing, Paris <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/19991266</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Pamuk, S. (2007). The Black death and the origins of the great divergence across Europe, 1300–1600 *European Review of Economic History*. 11(3): 289–317
- Pindyck, R. (2020). COVID-19 and the Welfare Effects of Reducing Contagion. National Bureau of Economic Research. Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w27121</u>
- Singh, Jaspreet and Singh, Jagandeep (2020). COVID-19 and Its Impact on Society Electronic Research Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities, Vol 2: Issue I, 2020, Available at SSRN: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3567837</u>
- Schaufeli, M. (2021). State Aid: COVID-19 tracker Measures available to weather the storm, NautaDutilh International Law Firm [online] Available at: <u>https://www.nautadutilh.com/en/coronavirus/state-aid-covid-19-tracker-</u> <u>measures-available-to-weather-the-storm#oldest</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Stamatev, St., 2019. Youth Unemployment in Bulgaria: Tendencies, Problems and Prospects, PhD thesis [in Bulgarian] [online] Available at: https://ras.nacid.bg/api/reg/FilesStorage?key=bf02fdcf-f530-49bf-91c4ac912ddbfaf2&mimeType=application/pdf&fileName=%D0%94%D0%B8% D1%81%D0%B5%D1%80%D1%82%D0%B0%D1%86%D0%B8%D1%8F_ %D0%A1%D1%82_%D0%A1%D1%82%D0%B0%D0%BC%D0%B0%D1% 82%D0%B5%D0%B2.pdf&dbId=1 [Accessed May 2021]
- Statistics Netherlands (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, CBS) (2021a). *Monthly labour participation and unemployment* [online] Available at: <u>https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/figures/detail/80590eng</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Statistics Netherlands (2021b). Gebruik van steunmaatregelen corona per 31 december, February 12, 2021 [in Dutch] [online] Available at: <u>https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/maatwerk/2021/06/gebruik-van-steunmaatregelen-corona-per-31-december</u> [Accessed April 2021]
- Statistics Netherlands (2021c). COVID-19 impact on central government [online] Available at: <u>https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/dossier/coronavirus-crisis-cbs-</u> figures/covid-19-impact-on-central-government [Accessed May 2021]

- Statistics Netherlands (2021d). Half of private sector may not survive COVID-19 crisis, May 8, 2020 [online] Available at: <u>https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/news/2020/19/half-of-private-sector-may-not-survive-covid-19-crisis</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Sullivan, E., & Wolff, E. A. (2021). Politics, pandemics, and support: the role of political actors in Dutch state aid during COVID-19. *Revista de Administração Pública*, 55(1), 50–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-761220200558</u>
- Taleb, N. N. (2007). *The Black Swan: The Impact of the Highly Improbable*, First Edition, Hardcover Random House
- The Government of the Netherlands (2020). *Autumn Memorandum*, November 30, 2020 [in Dutch] [online] Available at: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/kamerstukken/2020/11/30/najaarsno</u> ta-2020 [Accessed April 2021]
- The Netherlands Court of Audit (2021). *Top 10 van steunmaatregelen naar begrote financiële omvang*, May 19, 2021 [in Dutch] [online] Available at: https://coronarekening.rekenkamer.nl/coronarekening/ [Accessed May 2021]
- Thomas, C. (2006). Internal Validity: Process Tracing. In J. Gerring (Author), Case Study Research: Principles and Practice (pp.172-186). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511803123.010
- time.graphics (2021). COVID-19 infections, restrictions and measures timelines for the Netherlands and Bulgaria (March 2020 – May 2021), own representation [online] Available at: <u>https://time.graphics/line/485032</u> [Accessed May 2021]
- Tooze, A. (2020). Is the Coronavirus Crash Worse Than the 2008 Financial Crisis?, Foreign Policy, March 18, 2020 [online], Available at: <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/03/18/coronavirus-economic-crash-2008-financial-crisis-worse/</u> [Accessed March 2021]
- Van Evera, S. (1997). *Guide to Methods for Students of Political Science*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press